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(Potential differences in the totals are due to rounding)

The current Annual Financial Report comprises as follows:
(Α) Representations of the Board of Directors Members,
(Β) Independent Auditor’s Report,
(C) Board of Directors Annual Report, and
(D) Annual Financial Statements for FY 2021 (1.1 – 31.12.2021).
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A. Representations of the Board of Directors Members
The below statements are made by the following Members of the Board of Directors of OLYMPUS COOPERATIVE
BANK:
1. Emmanuel Skourtis, the Chairman of the Board of Directors,
2. Anna Avakova, Executive Member of the BoD & Chief Executive Officer
who certify that as far as we know:
a) The Annual Financial Statements for the FY ended as at December 31, 2021, prepared according to the effective
International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter IFRS), present truly and fairly the financial position as of
December 31, 2021, financial performance and cash flows of OLYMPUS COOPERATIVE BANK for the year then ended
b) The Board of Directors Annual Report provides a true view of the Bank’s performance, results and financial
position including a description of the main risks and uncertainties it is exposed to.

Drama, July 22, 2022
The designees,

The Chairman of the Board of Directors

Executive Member of the BoD
& Chief Executive Officer

Emmanuel Skourtis

Anna Avakova
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Β. Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Partners of “OLYMPUS COOPERATIVE BANK”

Report on the Financial Statements
Qualified Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of “OLYMPUS COOPERATIVE BANK” (the Bank), which comprise the
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021, the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash
flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, apart from the effect of the matters described in the paragraph “Basis for Qualified Opinion”, the accompanying
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December, 2021, its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (I.F.R.S.),
as adopted by the European Union.
Basis for Qualified Opinion
It arose from our audit that as at 31.12.2021, the allowance for credit risk regarding loans and receivables from clients, falls short
of those made by the Bank by approximately 8 million Euro. Therefore, the account of provisions for doubtful receivables, by
way of derogation from those provided in IFRS 9, appears equally understated, while the Equity of the Bank without the potential
effect of deferred tax, equally overstated.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) incorporated into the Greek Legislation.
Our responsibilities, under those standards, are described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Bank throughout our entire appointment, in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, incorporated into the Greek
Legislation and ethical requirements relevant to the audit of financial statements in Greece and we have fulfilled our ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the above Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
Material uncertainty related to going concern
We would like to draw your attention to Notes 2.2 to the financial statements and to the fact that in the current FY the Bank had
losses after tax amounting to € 2,776,237, while as at 31.12.2021, the Total Capital Ratio is lower than the minimum supervisory
threshold. The factors and conditions, described above, indicate the existence of material uncertainty that could cast significant
doubts in respect of the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. Note 2.2 to the financial statements makes reference to
the actions, performed or scheduled to be performed by the Management in order to address this matter. Our opinion is not
qualified in respect of this matter.
Emphasis of Matters
We would like to draw your attention to Note 29 to the financial statements, making reference to the fact that the former Evros
Cooperative Bank is in litigation with the Greek State regarding the working capital grants, provided by the Bank to the companies
of Evros Regional Unit under the guarantee of the Greek State, following the decisions of the Ministry of Finance. The Greek
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State refused to forfeit these guarantees for non-performing loans, provided by the Evros Cooperative Bank. The Bank demands
an amount of € 285 k, included in other assets in the Statement of Financial Position pertaining to guarantees returned and
forfeiture of guarantees amounting to € 2.71 m regarding non-performing loans. Given the fact that the legal procedures are
ongoing, the final outcome of the case as well as its potential impact on the Bank's financial statements cannot be currently
projected. Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
statements of the current period. These matters, as well as the related risks of significant misstatement, were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. Apart from the matters, described in the paragraphs “Basis for Qualified Opinion” and “Material
uncertainty related to going concern” of our Report, we have ascertained that the matters, described below, constitute the key
audit matters to be disclosed in our Report.
Key Audit Matters

Describing how the matter was addressed in the
audit

Provisions and contingent liabilities
The former Evros Cooperative Bank is in litigation with the

Our audit approach included, inter alia, the following

Greek State regarding the working capital grants, provided

procedures:

by the Bank to the companies of Evros Regional Unit

▪

We assessed the procedures performed by the

under the guarantee of the Greek State, following the

Management in respect of concentrating, monitoring and

decisions of the Ministry of Finance. The Greek State

evaluating the outcome of the pending court cases.

refused to forfeit these guarantees for non-performing

▪

We examined and assessed the representation letters of

loans, provided by the Bank. The Bank demands an

the Bank's legal consultants and the relevant

amount of € 285 k, included in other assets in the

correspondence.

Statement of Financial Position pertaining to guarantees

▪

We examined the minutes of the management meetings

returned and forfeiture of guarantees amounting to € 2.71

to identify any new conditions / events / developments

m regarding non-performing loans. The final outcome of

regarding the course of court cases.

the aforementioned litigation procedures regarding the

We assessed the conclusions of the Management & the

Greek State cannot be currently projected. Therefore, no

legal consultants regarding the effect of all these pending

provision has been made in the financial statements in

cases on the collaterals’ value and the financial position

relation to this matter, and nor have these guarantees

of the Bank.

been impaired in their capacity as loan collaterals.
Given the significant estimates made by the Management,

▪

We assessed the adequacy of the relevant disclosures
included in Note 29 to the financial statements.

the extent of the financial sizes as well as the complex
nature of the issue, this matter is considered as a key audit
area.
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The disclosures, made by the Bank in this regard as well
as provisions and contingent liabilities are recorded in
Note 29 to the financial statements.
Recoverability of deferred tax assets
As at December 31, 2021, deferred tax assets of the Bank

Based on the audit risks assessment, we evaluated the

amounted to 6.431.186 Euro, compared to 6.520.323 Euro

method used by the Management in order to determine the

as at 31 December, 2020, of which, an amount of

recoverable amount of deferred tax assets and we examined

3.465.614 Euro is not necessarily based on future

the budgets as well as the assumptions used regarding the

profitability but pertains to deferred tax assets within the

existence of future taxable profits.

meaning of Article 27A of Law 4172/2013, according to

Our audit procedures included, inter alia, the following:

which the Bank can convert deferred tax assets on specific

▪

We evaluated the design and implementation of internal

temporary differences into final and fixed deferred tax

controls related to the preparation and the review of

credit (DTC) from the Greek State.

budgets and expectations, including internal controls

Measurement of recoverability of deferred tax assets is

related to significant estimates, data, calculation and

considered a key audit matter as it is highly subjective in

applied methodologies.

terms of assumptions and expectations regarding the

▪

existence of future taxable profits and the assessment of
the special tax framework (articles 27 & 27A of Law

We examined the provisions of articles 27 and 27A of
Law 4172/2013 as well as any amendments.

▪

We evaluated the reasonableness of the most significant

4172/2013).

assumptions and expectations of the Management

The Management has provided further information in

regarding future taxable profits, based on the business

respect of deferred tax assets in Notes 2.12, 3.2, 12 and

plan and available resources of the Bank.

20 to the financial statements.

▪

We evaluated the extent to which the disclosures relating
to recoverability of deferred tax assets in the financial
statements are sufficient.

Other information
The management is responsible for the other information. The other information included in the Annual Financial Report,
comprises the Board of Director’s Report, reference to which is made in the “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory
Requirements” section of our Report and the Statements of the Members of the Board of Directors, but does not comprise the
financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express with this opinion any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the Bank’s financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise, appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the audit work performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate that matter. No such issue has arisen.
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Responsibilities of management and of those charged with governance for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards that have been adopted by the European Union and for such internal controls as management
determines are necessary to enable the preparation of separate and consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Banks’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
management’s intention is to proceed with liquidating the Bank or discontinuing its operations or unless the management has
no other realistic option but to proceed with those actions.
The Banks’s Audit Committee (article 44, Law 4449/2017) is responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as an aggregate are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs, incorporated into the Greek
Legislation, will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, incorporated into the Greek Legislation, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than that resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Banks’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit, as well as significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal controls that we identify during our
audit.
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and we communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
1.

Board of Directors’ Report

Taking into consideration the fact that under the provisions of paragraph 5, article 2 of Law 4336/2015 (part B), the management
has the responsibility for the preparation of the Board of Directors’ Report included into this Annual Financial Report, the following
is to be noted:
1.

In our opinion, the Board of Directors’ Report has been prepared in compliance with the effective legal requirements
of Articles 150-151, Law 4548/2018 and its content corresponds to the accompanying financial statements for the year
ended as at 31/12/2021.

2.

Based on the knowledge we acquired during our audit, regarding “OLYMPUS COOPERATIVE BANK” and its
environment, we have not identified any material misstatements in the Board of Directors’ Report.
2.

Additional Report to the Audit Committee

Our opinion on the accompanying financial statements is consistent with our Additional Report to the Bank’s Audit Committee,
prepared in compliance with article 11, regulation (EU) No 537/2014.
3.

Other Regulatory Matters

In the current FY, the Bank recorded losses after tax of 2,77 million Euro and, therefore the mechanism of converting deferred
tax asset (DTA) into deferred tax credit (DTC) may be implemented, against the Greek State in accordance with article 27A,
Law N 4172/2013.
4.

Provision of Non-audit Services

We have not provided the Bank with the prohibited non-audit services referred to in article 5 of regulation (EU) No 537/2014.
Non-prohibited non-audit services provided by us to the Bank during the year ended as at December 31, 2021, are disclosed in
Note 34 to the accompanying financial statements of the Bank.
5.

Auditor’s Appointment

We were first appointed as the Bank’s Chartered Accountants following as of 30.06.2014 decision of the annual regular general
meeting of the partners. Since then, our appointment has been constantly renewed for a total period of (7) years in compliance
with the decisions of the annual regular general meetings of the partners.
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Heraklion, 25 July 2022
Konstantinos Emm. Kanakarakis

The Chartered Accountant
S.O.E.L. Reg. Num. 30 371
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C. Board of Directors Annual Report
The current Annual Report of the Board of Directors (hereinafter referred to as “the Report”) pertains to FY 2021
(1.1.2021 - 31.12.2021). The current Report is in compliance with the relevant provisions of Article 150 - 152, Law
4548/18.
The current Report fairly presents all the relative and legally mandatory financial data in order to provide the users
of financial statements with meaningful and comprehensive information regarding the Olympus Cooperative Bank
(hereinafter referred to as the "Bank") operations within the aforementioned period.
The Report, as well as the Financial Statements of the Bank and all the legally required data and statements are
included in the Annual Financial Report for FY 2021.

UNIT A. Greek Economy
UNIT B. Hellenic Banking System
UNIT C. Drama Cooperative Bank Ltd. (Significant events & Issues)
UNIT D. Financial Sizes and Performance in 2021
UNIT E. Risk Management
UNIT F. Prospects for the Future
UNIT G. Non-Financial Information
UNIT H. Publication of Information under Article 6, Law 4374/2016
UNIT I. Transactions with Related Parties
Attachment: Alternative Performance Measures(APMs)
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Α. Greek Economy
In 2021, the Greek economy presented significant recovery from the effects of the coronavirus pandemic, as the
actual GDP increased by 8.3% in 2021 on an annual basis. Several performance indicators recorded improvement
compared to pre-pandemic levels, the most significant segments being tourism, exports and the real estate
market.
In particular, restart of the tourism segment contributed to 1.2% decrease in the unemployment rate standing at
14.8%. Inflation stood at 1.2%, presenting an increase compared to 2020, mainly reflecting the rising energy and
food cost.
In 2021, the state budget deficit stood at €14.9 billion compared to deficit of €22.8 billion in 2020, with the primary
result amounting to deficit of €10.3 billion compared to primary deficit of €18.2 billion in 2020. In the context of
supporting the Greek economy from the effects of the pandemic, the adoption of additional fiscal measures had
an adverse impact on the state budget achievement, with the total amount of the measures standing at €40 billion.
In 2021, the Greek economy raised €15.8 billion from the international debt markets through the issuance of seven
bonds with favourable financing conditions under the PEPP programme, with cash and cash equivalents
amounting to €31.6 billion at the end of the year. In March 2021, the Greek state partially repaid the existing loans
it had received from the International Monetary Fund (IMF) amounting to €3.3 billion, further reducing borrowing
costs, with the remaining amount to be repaid in the first quarter of 2022.
In April 2021, S&P upgraded Greece's credit rating to 'BB' (positive prospects) from 'BB-', while on 14 January 2022,
Fitch upgraded Greece's prospects from stable to positive, keeping the credit rating unchanged at BB.
In July 2021, the Economic and Financial Affairs Council (ECOFIN) approved the National Recovery and Resilience
Plan "Greece 2.0", which includes four pillars of implementation - Green Transition, Digital Transition,
Employment, Skills and Social Cohesion and Private Investment and Transformation of the Economy. The Plan is
expected to bring about €60 billion of investment over the next five years, while European resources of €30.5
billion will be used for its implementation.

Prospects for the Greek Economt
The prospects for the Greek economy are particularly positive. According to projections of the European
Commission, actual GDP is expected to grow at a positive rate of 3% in 2022. In addition, the Recovery and
Resilience Facility (RRF), activated in February 2022, will accelerate domestic growth by supporting businesses
through grants and loans totaling €3.6 billion. However, uncertainty -

caused by inflationary pressures,

geopolitical changes due to the Russian-Ukrainian crisis as well as the degree of recovery in tourism activity - is
expected to be a key factor in future recovery of the Greek economy.
Β. Hellenic Banking System
General: As reflected in the annual Report of the Governor of the Bank of Greece, the main factors, shaping the
financial and supervisory performance of banks in 2021, were the significant increase in bank business financing,
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aided by the favourable impact of the single monetary policy and supported through co-financing and guarantee
programmes, of the Hellenic Development Bank and the European Investment Bank Group. Moreover, the
increase in households bank deposits and non-financial corporations continued. Interest rates on deposits,
business and mortgage loans were further decreased.
However, further decrease in non-performing loans, mainly due to the pandemic, enhancing profitability and
strengthening the quality and quantity of the banks' capital base, remain significant challenges.
Financing: The credit expansion towards the private sector altered the annual rates from negative to positive
following the outbreak of the pandemic crisis. In 2021, this trend was reversed, as there was a slowdown, but the
annual average remained comparatively higher due to the higher rates recorded at the beginning of the year.
The credit expansion rate to non-financial corporations (NFCs) was significantly decreased, then recovered and in
the last three months of the year stood at 3.7% in December 2021 (December 2020: 10%, January 2022: 2.8%). In
2021, the average annual rate was 5.7%, remaining substantially unchanged versus 2020 (5.6%).
As a total, the decrease in credit expansion to Non-Financial Corporations (NFCs) reflects, among other things, the
exhaustion of funds from bank financing support programmes to businesses affected by the impact of the
pandemic. The contribution of these programmes to total borrowing was particularly high in 2020, however, their
contribution in 2021 is not negligible. Furthermore, generation of some new NPLs as an economic impact of the
pandemic, which increased banks' credit risk assessments, particularly in the case of SMEs, had an adverse impact
on both banks' willingness and their potential to disburse new credit to NFCs. Conversely, in 2021, attracting more
new customer deposits is consistent with increased bank lending capacity. The banks’ fundraising

from

Eurosystem (notably through TLTRO III operations), under highly favourable terms, remained significant in 2021
and encouraged provision of loans to businesses in various ways.
The average monthly net funding flow was decreased by €206 million in 2021 (2020: €559 million), but remained
almost double compared to 2019 (€110 million).
In 2021, total credit expansion to NFCs was mostly directed to the manufacturing, trade and tourism segments
which had shares of 22%, 21.4% and 18.7%, respectively, in total net flows to NFCs. These three segments,
particularly trade, also had the largest shares of financing through the HDB's programmes during the
aforementioned two years. In December 2021, the same sectors also had the highest shares in the total balance
of bank financing to NFCs: manufacturing: 24.5%, trade: 20.9% and tourism: 13.2% (followed by energy: 10.2%
and construction: 7.1%).
Deposit: In 2021, private sector deposits continued to increase at a decelerated rate compared to 2020, but
remained significantly higher than previously. In particular, in 2021, domestic private sector deposits recorded a
cumulative increase of €16.2 billion (or 10%), which was approximately three-quarters of the 2020 flow (EUR 20.6
billion) and more than double the average annual flow in 2016-2019.
In 2021, business deposits increased by €7.8 billion (or 24%), compared to €9.1 billion in 2020. Already in 2020, a
lot oi entities generated liquidity buffers through an increase in bank borrowing or as a result of direct state aid
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received, while their liquidity was boosted by measures to suspend payments of debt and tax liabilities and
deferred expenses. However, from the second quarter of 2021, with the restart of the economy, the significant
recovery in collectibles from retail sales and tourism segments improved cash flows of businesses, while during
the year, some large-scale NFC managed to raise funds from alternative sources (through the issuance of corporate
bonds or even shares). Overall, the growth rate of business deposits, after a sharp acceleration until late 2020,
gradually slowed down in 2021, but remained at high levels (December 2021: 24%, December 2020: 39.3%), the
highest on average since 2004. In January 2022, NFC deposits significantly decreased, as usually recorded every
year opening.
In 2021, the share of NFC deposits in total domestic private sector deposits continued to increase, averaging 20%,
compared to 18% in 2020 and 15% in 2019, while the households deposits further decreased by 77% from 79% in
2020 and 82% in 2019.
At the same time, central government deposits with commercial banks decreased by EUR 1.2 billion (or 19%
compared to the end of 2020), following a significant decrease in the previous year, mainly as a result of the
extensive fiscal support measures for businesses and households.
Bank interest rates: In 2021, deposit rates offered to non-financial corporations and households were at
particularly low levels. The low level of deposit rates can be attributed to the highly accommodative monetary
policy of the Eurosystem and high inflow of retail deposits to banks, which ensured favourable conditions for credit
institutions to raise funds. The positive deviation of the time deposit rate from the overnight deposit rate further
shrank in 2021 to just 11 basis points. Currently, holding deposits in current, savings and sight accounts is in
practice equally profitable compared to time deposits.
In 2021, bank borrowing costs for NFC were close to 3%, the lowest levels observed since 2003, when harmonised
time series of borrowing rates started to be recorded in Eurozone Member States.

Non-performing loan management: According to provisional data as of December 2021, the quality of the loan
portfolio on an individual basis improved, as NPLs amounted to EUR 18.4 billion, decreased by EUR 28.8 billion
compared to the end of December 2020 and by approximately EUR 90.3 billion compared to March 2016, when
the highest level of NPLs was recorded. Regarding the structure of NPLs, approximately three-quarters are
business loans, approximately one-fifth are mortgage loans and the rest are consumer loans. Moreover, loans
already terminated by banks, loans that are unlikely to pay and loans more than 90 days overdue and not yet
terminated are almost equally allocated.
In 2021, decrease in the stock of NPLs, is mainly due to loan sales of EUR 27.5 billion (due to the utilization of the
state guarantee scheme for securitisation of loans of credit institutions, known as 'Hercules'). It should be noted
that this amount includes loan balances transferred to assets available for sale, which have been reclassified to
assets available for sale. Contributing to the same development, albeit to a lesser extent, were (a) collections
through active management and (b) support measures by the State and banks to support the available income of
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households and to facilitate the borrowers' repayment conditions. However, given that the full impact of the
pandemic will take some time to become apparent, there is no room for complacency.
In December 2021, with regard to key quality indicators of bank portfolios, the ratio of NPLs to total loans
presented a significant decrease, but remained high (12.8%). At the European level, according to the of the
European Banking Authority, this ratio stood at 2.1% at the end of September 2021. A decrease in the NPL ratio
was observed in all the portfolio categories, while, within the business portfolio, the ratio, for the portfolio of both
freelancers and micro-enterprises and small and medium-sized enterprises, remained high. Better performance is
observed in the portfolio of large corporates and in the portfolio of shipping loans. Based on the sectoral analysis,
in the three sectors with the highest loan balance, namely trade, manufacturing and construction, the NPL ratio
amounted to 16.7%, 13.1% and 20.8% respectively, while in tourism-related sectors, such as accommodation and
food service, it amounted to 15.4% and 31.5% respectively. The coverage ratio of NPLs by accumulated provisions
decreased slightly to 42.4% (versus 44.4% in December 2020).
At end-December 2021, approximately 39% of all the NPLs were linked to settlements, and it is noted that a high
proportion of loans placed under settlements are again in arrears within a relatively short period of time after the
agreement had been reached. Given the impact of the pandemic, it is estimated that a significant proportion of
the performing loans may be recorded as non-performing in 2022. Some of the loans under support regime (e.g.
through programmes such as Bridge) are also likely to be recorded as NPLs when the facility period expires. On
the other hand, the share of loans under legal protection is declining.
Liquidity: Greek banks' funding by the ECB continues to record significant improvement, mainly due to the ECB's
decision on 7 April 2020, which lifted the minimum credit rating requirement for the acceptance of securities
issued by the Greek government as collateral in the Eurosystem credit operations and extended it until June 2022.
As a result, Greek banks replaced more expensive funding, through the purchase and resale of securities (repos)
with cheaper funding from the ECB and targeted longer term refinancing operations (TLTROs).
Capital Adequacy: Regarding capital adequacy, both the Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) and the Total Capital Ratio,
on a consolidated basis, declined (based on provisional data) at the end of December 2021 to 12.6% and 15.2%,
respectively (from 15% and 16.6%, respectively, in December 2020). Incorporating the full impact of International
Financial Reporting Standard 9 (IFRS 9), the CET1 ratio was 10.7% and the Capital Adequacy Ratio was 13.4%. At
the European level, according to the European Banking Authority data, the corresponding CET1 ratio was 15.7%.
The quality of the Greek banks' regulatory capital further deteriorated, with final and settled deferred tax credits
(DTCs) amounting to EUR 14.4 billion in December 2021, representing 64% of total regulatory capital (compared
to 53% in December 2020). It should be noted that, based on provisional December data, there is a strengthening
of the banking system's interconnection with the public sector, as its risk exposure (total exposures to the central
government to total assets) stands at 22.5% at end-2021, and 38.7% as a percentage of GDP.
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Future developments: In 2021, the Banks continued their efforts to improve their asset quality and strengthen
their financial ratios, supported by accommodative monetary and expansionary fiscal policy. However, in a few
individual cases, especially of smaller banks, this effort needs to be intensified. In the current environment of
changing global financial conditions, the Greek banks are faced with significant challenges, including, but not
limited to, the new NPLs that will arise following the pandemic with the gradual return to normality and the
expected withdrawal of support measures (supervisory, fiscal, etc.). etc.), the obligation to meet the Minimum
Requirement for Equity and Eligible Liabilities (MREL), the need to absorb the impact of IFRS 9, and the impact of
the climate change.
Moreover, the current geopolitical developments, as well as rapid deterioration of inflationary pressures, could
potentially adversely affect the performance of the Greek banks. Although the Greek banks' exposures to the
countries involved are negligible, rapid deterioration of Russian-Ukrainian crisis will contribute, inter alia, to
further increases in energy costs and even higher inflation, adversely affecting all EU economies.
More specifically, to the extent that Russia's invasion in Ukraine would have a negative impact on economic
activity in Greece, deposits and loans would also be adversely affected, with a decrease in the respective rates of
change. On the other hand, the increase in prices, as expected in war time, will tend to contribute to an increase
in nominal GDP. Therefore, it will, ceteris paribus, have a positive effect on the balance of deposits and on the
demand for loans in absolute sizes. The uncertainty surrounding Russia's invasion in Ukraine is, in principle,
discouraging the supply of bank credit and may also contribute to some strengthening of banknote demand.
However, acceleration of inflation, which is currently in progress, is generally discouraging money-holding in any
form, unless it is offset by an increase in deposit rates, which is not possible under current conditions. Moreover,
accelerating inflation will lead to a further decline in lending rates, in real terms, supporting, through this channel,
the demand for bank lending.
Regarding the NPLs management, available data for 2021 show a decline in their stock, essentially through
transactions performed within the state guarantee programme in securitisation of loans of credit institutions
(known as Hercules).
Therefore, it becomes clear that these challenges require ongoing vigilance and intensified action from the banks
to further reduce NPLs, strengthen their capital base and use the increased liquidity available to finance the
economy.
C. Olympus Cooperative Bank (Significant Events & Issues)
Annual Regular General Meeting: On 31 October 2021, the Annual Regular General Meeting concluded its
proceedings and unanimously approved the annual financial statements for the financial year 01/01/2020 to
31/12/2020.
Change of corporate title and logo: Following the decision of the General Meeting as of 31/10/2021 the title of
the Bank was changed to "Olympos Cooperative Bank " with the distinctive title "Olympus Bank", marking a new
page in its course, since in the context of upgrading its corporate identity, the Bank redesigned its image in order
to reposition itself dynamically in the banking sector. The redesign of the Bank's corporate identity and image is
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part of its broader strategic plan, whose main axes have to do with application of new technologies, introduction
of innovative products and creation of modern banking services with added value, ensuring an excellent digital
experience for the customer. The Olympus Bank logo draws its inspiration from Mount Olympus, the highest
mountain of Greece and its design gives direction to the top through different routes, creates perspective and
represents the high goals of the Bank.
Cooperative capital increase: In 2021, the Bank's cooperative capital was increased by €2,300,002.42 through
private participation, both by capitalising a deposited amount kept for a capital increase amounting to €700,000
and by new shareholders' contributions amounting to €1,600,002.42, and in addition, another approximately €2k
was paid on several occasions.
Board of Directors: On 15/11/2021, the resolution of the AGM held on 31/10/2021 was registered to G.E.MI. with
the General Electronic Commercial Registry Number (no. 2497556), according to which the new Board of Directors
was reconstituted with a term of office until 31/10/2025.
Reconstruction and consolidation of the branch network In 2021, the Bank closed the branches in Prosotsani,
Soufli, Didymoteicho and Feres. The operations of the closed branches and rendering services to their customers
were outsourced to neighboring branches in the nearest area.
Business Plan : The new Management of the Bank prepared and implemented from 2022 an optimistic business
plan for the years 2022-2024 that reflects the vision of the Management and Investors for the digital
transformation of the Bank, upgrading its corporate structures and governance systems and development of new
electronic products and services.
Management of non-performing loans (NPLs): the Bank places particular importance on managing nonperforming loans, the reduction of which is a key priority. The Bank's strategy for FY 2021 is focused on the
following main axes for a better management of NPLs: a) intensification of collection and settlement efforts, b)
effort to activate the guarantees of the Hellenic Government, c) working towards the maximum possible
consolidation of the NPLs loan portfolio by entrusting the management of NPLs to QQuant Master Servicer, a
contract with which was signed on 12/11/2021.
Supervisory issues : According to the Bank of Greece Credit and Insurance Committee (CIC) Decision
338/13.12.2019, a minimum Total Capital Ratio of 10.64% is imposed from 01.01.2020, which includes a Total
Capital Ratio of 8% and additional capital requirements of 2.64%. In addition to the total capital requirements the
Bank is subject to capital requirements for maintaining a buffer of 2.5% in accordance with Article 122 of Law
4261/2014, while it is recommended (Pillar 2 Capital Guidance) that the Bank should satisfy an additional margin
of 2%. Following the CIC Decision 345/1/10.02.2020, the Board of Directors was requested to review the Bank's
financial position and to prepare an action plan for its compliance with the supervisory requirements of CIC
Decision 338/1/13.12.2019. In addition, the Bank of Greece imposed a temporary ban on new loans and credit
granting in order to prevent the risk of an increase in bad debts and a ban on the payment of any variable
remuneration in order to prevent the deterioration of the Bank's capital position.
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As it was not possible for the Bank to comply with the minimum capital requirements for the compliance with the
10.64% capital adequacy ratio, as set by the CIC Decision 338/13.12.2019. In compliance with the CIC Decision
NPR 408/11/17.12.2021, the BoG required that the Bank should increase the cooperative capital by EUR 2.44
million until 30/04/2022. In this context, on 31/12/2021, an increase in cooperative capital by € 1,100,001.52 was
implemented, which was certified by the decision of the Board of Directors of the Bank on 04/01/2022.
D. Financial Sizes and Performance in 2021
Assets: Total assets increased by € 475 k, mainly due to the increase in cash as a consequence of the decrease in
loans as well as the increase in the Bank’s cooperative capital in 2021.
Account/Ratio

2021

Change

2020

€

%

96.479.691

96.004.417

475.274

0,50%

18.371.421

17.108.559

1.262.862

7,38%

1.383.695

657.748

725.947

110,37%

Loans

89.502.374

90.792.405

(1.290.031)

(1,42)%

Accumulated provisions for credit risk

28.914.211

28.914.211

(0)

(0,00)%

Deferred tax assets

6.431.186

6.571.912

(140.726)

(2,14)%

Other Assets

3.385.695

3.467.713

(82.019)

(2,37)%

Total Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Receivables from credit institutions

Loans: Total debt amounted to € 89,50 million at the end of December 2021, recording a decrease of
approximately 1,42%. The cumulative provisions for credit risk remained unchanged. Final delays of the loan
portfolio amounted to € 51,24 million or 57,26%. Debt ratio amounted to 84.67% at the end of December 2021.
The ratio of delays coverage from accumulated provisions was 38.15% while the value of collaterals decreased by
9,24%. The collaterals include an amount of € 6.22 million pertaining to Greek State guarantees.
Account /Ratio

2021

2020

Change
€

%

Loa ns

89,502,374

90,792,405

(1,290,031)

(1.42)%

Accumul a ted provi s i ons for credi t ri s k

28,914,211

28,914,211

(0)

(0,00)%

Loa ns col l a tera l va l ue

37,113,362

46,034,167

(8,920,805)

(19.38)%

Overdue l oa ns - NPEs

75,784,000

75,614,000

170,000

0.22%

Non-Performi ng Loa ns

51,249,000

47,092,000

4,157,000

8.83%

Overdue l oa ns (%)

84.67%

83.28%

-

1.39%

NPEs / Loa ns

57.26%

51.87%

-

5.39%

Provi s i ons / Loa ns

32.31%

31.85%

-

Provi s i ons / Overdue l oa ns

38.15%

38.24%

-

0.46%
(0.09)%

Col l a tera l s

41.47%

50.70%

-

(9.24)%

Col l a tera l s + Provi s i ons / Loa ns

73.77%

82.55%

-

(8.78)%

Avera ge l oa n ra te

1.19%

1.88%

-

(0,69%)

Avera ge depos i t ra te

0.70%

1.36%

-

(0,66)%
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Equity: On 31.12.2021, the Bank's equity amounted to € 6,87 million compared to € 8 million in the previous year.
Total capital ratio for the same period amounted to 8.80% against 9.91% on 31.12.2020 due to the capital increase
implemented in the year. The cooperative base records 13,390 members (2020: 13,083).
€
Equity
Total capital ratio
Cooperative s hares (Balance)
Members

%

6,870,396

7,988,484

(1,118,087)

8.80%

9.91%

(1,11)%

(11.20)%

4,223,526

3,395,407

828,119

24.39%

13,390

13,083

307

2.35%

(14.00)%

Liabilities: Total deposits amounted to € 88,35 million recording an increase of € 1,5 million compared to the
previous year. Compared to the previous year, the Bank's deposits increased by 1,72%, amounting the loan-toequity ratio (after provisions) to (individuals) deposits to 68,58%. The average interest rate of deposits stood at
0,73% compared to 1,36% in 2020.
Account /Ratio

2021

2020

Change
€

%

Deposits

88.350.060

86.852.946

1.497.114

1,72%

Deposits (less credit institutions)

88.350.060

86.852.946

1.497.114

Loans after provisions / Deposits

68,58%

71,24%

0

1,72%
(2,67)%

Loans after provisions / Deposits of individuals

68,58%

71,24%

0

(2,67)%

0,73%

1,36%

0

(0,64)%

Average deposit interest rate

Financial Results: Net interest income amounted to € 633 k, from € 743 k in the previous year. Net margin
amounted to 0.51% compared to 0.52% in 2020. Net commission income amounted to € 300 k, recording a
decrease of 29.02% compared to the previous year. The Bank's operating expenses amounted to € 3.55 million,
recording an increase of 4.93% compared to the previous year. Income tax (deferred tax) amounted to debit of €
89 k, mainly arising from derecognition of tax loss in 2015 to 2019 and from the calculation of tax loss in 2021.
Earnings before tax amounted to loss of € 2.68 million compared to loss of € 2.20 million in the previous year,
while earnings after tax amounted to loss of € 2.77 million for 2021 compared to loss of € 1.67 million in 2020.
Account/Ratio

2021

2020

Change
€

Interest income
Net interest income

%

1.252.747

1.903.910

(651.163)

(34,20)%

595.720

743.792

(148.072)

(19,91)%

327.613

422.637

(95.024)

(22,48)%

3.511.398

3.382.415

128.983

89.137

(531.353)

620.490

3,81%
(116,78)%

Earnings before tax

(2.683.421)

(2.206.421)

(477.000)

21,62%

Earnings after tax

(2.776.237)

(1.498.725)

(1.277.512)

85,24%

Earnings before tax & loan provisions

(2.683.421)

(2.206.421)

(477.000)

21,62%

1,88%

-

(0,69)%

Net income from commissions
Operating expenses
Income tax

Average loan interest rate

1,19%
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Ε. Risk Management
The Bank places particular emphasis on assessing and monitoring the risks to which it is exposed. This task has
been assigned to the Risk Management Division (RMD) that has developed modern methodologies and models
for the purposes of assessing risk exposure. The Bank is in full compliance with the new regulatory framework
from 1 January 2014, under the Directive 2013/36/EC and the Regulation of EC 575/2013 which gradually
introduce Basel III regulations. Directive 2013/36/EC was incorporated into Greek legislation under Law
4261/2014, which sets new banks operating framework, abolishing Law 3601/2007.
Under the credit risk assessment framework, credit rating of borrowers is assessed through a modern evaluation
system, which is taken into account during the approval procedure. Moreover, the RMD estimates the minimum
capital requirements in respect of the credit risk.
Apart from assessing the capital requirements as far as the credit risk is concerned, the Divisions also monitors
and evaluates all the risks to which the Bank is exposed and calculates the minimum capital requirements.
Regarding liquidity risk, special Policy and Liquidity Crisis Management Scheme have been established and key
liquidity indicators are systematically monitored. Moreover, in compliance with the risk concentration
assessment, the Bank's risk exposure is also calculated per bank operation and per bank client.
Finally, the Management assesses the Bank's exposure to operating and interest rate risk. As far as the market risk
concerns, it should be noted that the Bank does not fall under the supervisory provisions for calculating capital
requirements for market risk, as it does not have a trading book.
In line with the evaluation, approval and granting of loans, special attention is paid to the non-performing
exposures, the reduction in which constitutes the key priority of the Bank. The Arrears Management Division’s
objective is to monitor and manage the customer’s non-performing exposures, according to the provisions
specified in the Code of Conduct (Law 4224/2013) and BoG ECA 42/30.5.2014, 47/9.2.2015 and 82/8.3.2016.
Financial risks, addressed by the Bank, are analysed in Note 4 to the Financial Statements.
The fiscal conditions in Greece still constitute a risk factor to the Greek banking segment in general. Any adverse
developments in this area would affect the Bank's liquidity, the quality of its loan portfolio, its performance and
capital base.
Furthermore, given the significant contribution of deferred tax to regulatory capital, the risk associated with DTA
& DTC is relevant and relates to future tax rates and potentially adverse change in the legal and regulatory
framework, governing the handling of deferred tax assets in regulatory capital.
F. Prospects for the Future
The year ended was considered as a pivotal point for the Bank’s attempt to define the new strategy. The strategy
aimed at marking the beginning of a new era and highlighting the Bank as a strong and rising pole in the country's
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financial system, through the expansion of its operations, its capital strengthening, optimization of its Balance
Sheet items, its operating as well as non-operating development, through partnerships.
In order to achieve the above strategy, last year, Bank already upgraded its internal structures, both at
organizational structure and corporate governance levels, as well as at the human capital level, thus creating a
strong and efficient management team of experienced executives, including the existing human resources as well
newly recruited market executives.
At the same time, the level of the Bank's internal procedures and policies was significantly upgraded and enriched,
while the implementation of modernization and infrastructure development projects continued, investing in
technological equipment, systems and applications, aiming at both improving and supporting of daily operations,
as well as the significant upgrading of the security systems, communications and infrastructure.
The preparation of the study for the strategic planning of the Bank's information systems and infrastructures for
the next three years, was one of the significant projects of the last year, as those needs in systems and
infrastructure which were deemed necessary to support the transition to the next day, both strategically and
technologically, were determined.
Upgrading of e-banking, through the e-banking and mobile banking networks, which will continue in the coming
years, highlights the commitment as well as the Bank’s philosophy in refer to the formation of sophisticated
customer-centric systems, that will be constantly adapted to the modern needs of its customers as they are shaped
by market requirements.
2021 was a year of recovery for the Greek economy, as the progressive increase in the vaccinated population
contributed to halting the pandemic and this in turn allowed the gradual de-escalation of restrictive measures. As
a result, there was a gradual restart of the economy, with GDP eventually increasing by approximately 8.3%. An
increase that was mainly driven by the increase in exports of goods and services, the impressive performance in
tourism services, despite the limited tourist season, but also the recovery of private consumption, given the preexisting savings, due to the pandemic.
The year 2022 will inevitably be accompanied by uncertainties, at economy level as well as at financial level,
obviously affecting its growth prospects. However, despite the increased energy costs, the short-term
maintenance of inflation on high rates, the market’s uncertainty due to the war in Ukraine and the pandemic still
affecting the economic activity, the existence of redeeming features such as continuing employment growth,
consumption of the previous accumulation of savings and the continuing rise in exports, are expected to be key
drivers of the recovery.
At the same time, effective use of European resources, ongoing implementation of structural reforms, digital
upgrading of the state administration, strengthening the financing of the Greek economy, satisfactory
management of the budget deficit increased due to the pandemic and the public debt, in order to be viable, are
expected to be the spearhead for further upgrade of the Greek economy credit rating as well as of the investment
rating that will release the inflow of foreign investment funds. According to the annual Report on the economy of
the Governor of the Bank of Greece, growth is expected to be maintained for 2022, but at a clearly lower rate
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than the initial provision, of 3.8% instead of 4.9%, while under the light of an unfavorable scenario, growth rate of
real GDP could be limited to even lower levels, of 2.8%. Therefore, maintaining a strong dynamic growth is the key
challenge for the Greek economy in 2022 and within this environment the Bank is expected to operate, gradually
implementing its strategic planning.
In the context of the aforementioned, the key issues for 2022 are the Implementation of the Bank's Business Plan,
whose main axes are as follows:
Business:
▪

Taking appropriate measures to continue operating as a going concern and changing to a business model
that will generate operating profits and value to its shareholders/partners.

▪

Complying with regulatory requirements in order to grant loans of 7 million for the period 2023-2024.
The exact structure of the new loans cannot be currently determined.

▪

Applying for issuance of an operating license in the Region of Eastern Macedonia and Thrace after
meeting the supervisory requirements for capital adequacy.

▪

Financing significant infrastructure and energy projects in the areas where the bank operates and in the
Eastern Macedonia and Thrace region after obtaining the relevant operating license from the region.

▪

Opening new stores by obtaining a regional operating license (e.g. Kavala Prefecture)

▪

Optimizing operating costs.

Opertaional :
▪

Strengthening the culture of corporate governance, internal policies and procedures upgrading existing
and implementing new internal policies and procedures at every level of the organization.

▪

Implementing new internal safety net, methodologies and procedures for the successful, transparent and
fair provision of new products and services both in the long term and in existing day-to-day operations.

▪

Reinforcing the bank's through recruiting highly qualified professionals.

IT infrastructures:
▪

Strengthening the bank's digital reformation with new investments aiming to develop a secure and highly
efficient IT environment that would adequately support the bank's activities

▪

Transition from CSB1 to CSB2 is expected in the first half of 2023.

▪

Design of the implementation of the T24 Mosque from the third quarter of 2022 and start of operation
at the end of 2023.

▪

CSB will be used for classic banking products and T24 will support open source products (API's) that do
not exist and cannot be supported by CSB.

Financial and Regulatory:
▪

Share capital increase of 23 million in the period 2022-2024.

▪

Compliance with the requirements of the BoG for a CAR of 12.91% until the end of 2022 and 16.41% for
2023 and 2024. Exceeding the net worth limit of 10 million in order to operate in the region of Eastern
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Macedonia and Thrace. As the bank is making losses in the current year, this would be achieved by
appropriate increase in share capital.
▪

Achieving the BoG’s target of a 44% NPE provision coverage ratio in 2024.

▪

Achieving the reduction of the NPEs ratio from 86.8% in 2021 to 72.4% in 2024.

▪

Additional increase in share capital in the second half of 2023 as part of the bank's goal to achieve the
minimum net worth of 18 million required by the Greek Central Bank to obtain undertakings authorised
throughout the country and/or abroad from 2024.

G. Non-financial Information
-Historical data:
Olympus Cooperative Bank was established in 1994 as a Credit Cooperative under the title "DRAMA COOPERATIVE
BANK" and the distinctive title "MACEDONIAN CREDIT".
In 1999 and after obtaining the operating license as a Credit Institution, in the form of a credit cooperative under
Law 1667/1986, following a decision of the Banking and Credit Affairs Committee of the Bank of Greece, the Bank
started operating under the title "DRAMA COOPERATIVE BANK».
In 2018, the merger through absorption of the "EVROS COOPERATIVE BANK" was completed. Following the
merger, the Bank's Management aims at achieving economies of scale and comparative advantages, in order to
contribute to further economic development of its members and – consequently- the economy of the region of
Eastern Macedonia and Thrace, where it operates. The decision of the Regular General Meeting held on
31/10/2021 changed the Arsaces of Association, under which the new title is modified into “OLYMPUS
COOPERATIVE BANK” and the discreet title “OLYMPUS BANK”. The Bank has four branches in Drama and Evros
Regional Units.
Environment: The Bank applies environmentally responsible guidelines in its operational structures with the
objective of reducing the PEF and especially the policies which aim at decreasing the energy and paper
consumption and the enhancement of recycling programs of accumulators, electronic devices and paper.
Community policy: The Bank supports various programs of communal objective, events and initiatives related to
education, protection of the environment, culture, sports and the work of Non-Government-Organizations.
Labor issues: On 31.12.2021, the Bank employed 43 people, while the cost of payroll and other benefits for the
year 2021, including insurance contributions, amounted to approximately € 1.78 million.
The Bank responsibly applies the following policies regarding Human Resources:

▪ Healthcare and safety
▪ Selection of staff, recruitment procedures, avoiding discriminations in the working place
▪ On-going training of employees
▪ Providing fair payments, based on the agreements in line with those effective at the national labor market
▪ Development of evaluation & assessment systems
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Η. Publication of Information under Article 6, Law 4374/2016
According to the provisions of Article 6 of Law 4374/2016 "Transparency in the relations of credit institutions
with media companies and sponsored persons", the Bank is obliged to provide an analysis of the following
information and data:
▪

Payments for the year 2021 € 287 (plus VAT € 68.88) for advertising and promotion purposes, to individuals/
legal entities for which a 2% municipal fee was paid.

▪

Payments conducted within the respective financial year arising from donation, sponsorship, grant or other
charitable cause, to individuals/legal entities :

A donation of € 2,302.50 (plus VAT 177.50) was made to the Evros’s Chamber.

I. Transactions with Related Parties
All the transactions with related parties are carried out within the usual course of the Bank's operations under
market conditions. Further analysis is provided in Note 30 to the Financial Statements.
Attachment: Alternative Performance Measures (APMs)
In the context of implementing the Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures of the European Securities
and Markets Authority (ESMA) in respect of Alternative Performance Measures (APMs), the following table
presents analytical descriptions of definition and calculation of the relevant APMs, which are included in the Board
of Directors Annual Report 2021, as well as in the Notes to the Annual Financial Report.
Indicator

Definition

Loans

Customers Loans and receivables at the end of the period

Deposits
Accumulated provisions for
credit risk

Liabilities to customers at the end of the period
Accumulated provisions for impairment of customers loans and receivables at the
end of the year

Non-performing Loans

Permanent delays

Customers loans and receivables delayed >90 days at the end of the period
According to the definitions of the European Banking Authority (ΕΒΑ, ITS Technical
Standards), non-performing exposures are those that meet either or both
conditions:
a) Significant exposures delayed over 90 days
b) Unsecured total uncollectible receivables without collateral, irrespective of
the existence of a delayed or number of delayed days
Loans that according to the Bank’s estimates will become non-performing at the
year end

Interest bearing assets

Average period beginning and end for cash and cash available Central Banks,
receivables from financial institutions and loans and receivables from clients

Common shares (CET1)

CET 1 at year end as defined in the Regulation (EU) 575/2013, with gradual
implementation of its provisions to weighed assets

Non-performing exposures
(NPEs)
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Total capital ratio

Operating expenses
Organizational income

Year end total capital, as defined in the Regulation (EU) 575/2013, with gradual
implementation of its provisions to weighed assets
Personnel fees and expenses plus general administrative and other operating
expenses plus depreciation of tangible fixed assets and amortization of intangible
assets for the period

Loans / Deposits

Net income from interest plus net income from commission for the period
Loans and advances to clients before accumulated provisions for credit risk to
liabilities to clients at the end of the period

Non-performing Loans (delayed
>90 days)

Loans and advances to clients delayed over 90 days to loans and advances to
clients before accumulated provisions for credit risk at the end of the period

Non-performing exposures
(NPEs)
Coverage of non-performing
Loans (delayed >90 days)
Coverage of non-performing
exposures (NPEs)

NPEs to loans and advances to clients before accumulated provisions for credit risk
at the end of the period
Accumulated provisions for credit risk to loans and advances to clients delayed >90
days at the end of the period

Permanent delays / Loans
Provisions / Loans
Coverage / Loans
Coverage and provisions /
Loans

Accumulated provisions for credit risk to NPEs at the end of the period
Loans that according to the Bank’s estimates will become non-performing to loans
and advances to clients before accumulated provisions for credit risk at the end of
the period
Accumulated provisions for credit risk to loans and advances to clients before
accumulated provisions for credit risk at the end of the period
Value of coverage to loans and advances to clients before cumulated provisions for
credit risk for the end of the period

Average deposit interest rate

Value of coverage and cumulated provisions for credit risk to loans and advances
to clients before cumulative provisions for credit risk at the end of the period
Interest and similar income of the period to average (on a daily basis) of loans and
other interest bearing assets
Interest and similar expenses of the period to average (on a daily basis) of deposits
and other interest bearing liabilities

Interest margin

Average interest rate on loans less average interest rate on deposits for the period

Net interest margin

Net income from interest for the period to interest bearing assets

Margin effectiveness
Margin effectiveness/ Net
income from interest

Interest bearing assets by interest margin for the period
Interest bearing assets by interest margin to net income from interest for the
period

Cost / Revenue
Organizational profit before
provisions

Operating expenses to organizational income for the period

Average loan interest rate

Organizational revenue less operating expenses for the period

Drama, 22 July 2022

The Board of Directors

The Chairman of the BoD

The Executive Member of the BoD
& Chief Executive Officer

Emmanouel Skourtis

Anna Avakova
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D. Annual Financial Statements for the period 1.1.2021 – 31.12.2021

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Note

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

14
15
16
17
17
30
18
19
12 , 20
21
22

18,371,421
1,383,695
83,202
89,502,374
(28,914,211)
28,940
5,605,891
380,912
6,431,186
3,385,695
220,587
96,479,691

17,108,559
657,748
83,202
90,792,405
(28,914,211)
58,504
5,757,499
189,009
6,520,323
3,467,713
232,076
95,952,828

Amounts in €
Assets
Ca s h a nd ba l a nces wi th Centra l Ba nk
Due from credi t i ns titutions
Fi na nci a l i ns truments a t FV through profi t or l os s
Loa ns a nd a dva nces to cus tomers
Les s : Provi s i ons for doubtful l oa ns
Due from IFRS 16
Property, pl a nt a nd equi pment
Intangi bl e a s s ets
Deferred tax a s s ets
Other a s s ets
Forecl os ed a s s ets
Total Assets
Liabilities
Due to cus tomers
Due to IFRS 16
Retirement Benefi ts
Other l i a bi l i ties
Total Liabilities

23
29
24
25

88,350,060
29,085
41,736
1,188,415
89,609,295

86,852,946
60,136
56,313
938,970
87,908,365

Equity
Co-opera tive s ha re ca pi tal
Sha re premi um
Other res erves
Amounts i ntended for coopera tive ca pi tal i ncrea s e
Retai ned ea rni ngs
Total equity

26
27
28
26
28

11,741,402
4,551,724
4,502,550
(13,925,281)
6,870,396

9,439,231
4,551,724
4,502,550
700,000
(11,149,044)
8,044,463

96,479,691

95,952,828

Total liabilities and equity
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Note

Amounts in €
Interes t a nd s i mi l a r Income
Interes t expens e a nd s i mi l a r cha rges
Net interest income

From January 1st, to
31.12.2021

31.12.2020

1,252,747
(657,027)
595,720

1,903,910
(1,160,118)
743,792

450,354
(122,741)
327,613
15,886
939,218

484,246
(61,609)
422,637
20,756
1,187,185

8
9
18,19,22,29
10

(1,779,456)
(1,182,736)
(283,651)
(265,555)
(3,511,398)

(1,829,475)
(1,042,954)
(267,441)
(242,545)
(3,382,415)

Other non-opera ting res ul ts
Profit / (loss) before tax
Deferred tax
Total Profit / (loss) after tax

11

(111,242)
(2,683,421)
(89,137)
(2,772,558)

(8,168)
(2,203,398)
530,476
(1,672,922)

Other compreha ns i ve i ncome

28

(3,679)

176,343

-

-

(2,776,237)

(1,496,579)

3,809,466
(0.73)

2,419,590
(0.69)

(2,683,421)

(2,203,398)

Fee a nd commi s s i on i ncome
Commi s s i on expens e
Net fee and commission income
Other i ncome
Total Income
Staff cos ts
Genera l a dmi ni s tra tive expens es
Depreci a tion a nd a mortiza tion
Other expens es
Total Operating Expenses

5

6
7

12

Deferred tax on comprehens i ve i ncome i tems
Total Profit / (loss) after tax
Wei ghted a vera ge number of coopera tive s ha res
Basic earnings/ (losses) per cooperative share

13

Earnings / (losses) before tax and loan provisions
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
31/12/2021
Amounts in €
Balances at 1 January 2021, according to I.F.R.S.
Changes in equity for the period 1st of January to 31st of December
Contribution of shareholders to increase cooperative capital
Increase in cooperative share capital
Total comprehensive income
Balance of Equity at 31st of December 2021

Cooperative Share
capital
9.439.231
2.302.171
11.741.402

Share premium
4.551.724
4.551.724

Statutory reserves

Other Reserves

804.183
804.183

3.698.367
3.698.367

Amounts for Share
Capital Increase

Retained earnings

700.000
(700.000)
-

Total

(11.149.043)
(2.776.237)
(13.925.281)

8.044.463
(700.000)
2.302.171
(2.776.237)
6.870.396

31/12/2020
Amounts in €
Balances at 1 January 2020, according to I.F.R.S.
Changes in equity for the period 1st of January to 31st of December
Contribution of shareholders to increase cooperative capital
Other changes
Increase in cooperative share capital
Total comprehensive income
Balance of Equity at 31st of December 2020

Cooperative Share
capital

Share premium

Statutory reserves

Other Reserves

Amounts for Share
Capital Increase

Retained earnings

4.013.689

4.551.721

804.183

3.521.628

-

(9.531.011)

5.425.543
9.439.231

3
4.551.724

804.183

396
176.343
3.698.367

700.000
700.000

(19.338)
(1.672.922)
(11.149.043)

Total
3.360.211
700.000
(18.939)
5.425.543
(1.496.579)
8.044.463
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Ε. Notes to Financial Statements
1. General Information about the Bank
OLYMPUS COOPERATIVE BANK Ltd (hereinafter the Bank) had been initially established as a Credit Cooperative
following the decision of the Authorizing Meeting as at December 17, 1994, pursuant to the provisions of Law
1667/1986. The Bank obtained the Credit Institution Operation license following No. 11/13/30.9.1998 decision
of the Banking and Credit Committee of the Bank of Greece.
Under Num. 278/1/29.06.2018 decision of the Credit and Insurance Committee of the BoG, the merger of the
Bank with the Evros Cooperative Bank was approved, in accordance with the provisions of Article 16 of Law
2515/1997, Article 10, paragraph 5, of Law 1667/1986 and Articles 69-77a of CL 2190/1920, as effective. The
Merger was completed through the registration the Notarial Act Num. 23.413/28.11.2018 of the Notary of Drama
Eleni Kotaridou – Anastasiadou in G.E.MI.
The domiciles in a self-owned Management building in Drama. The Bank operates in the following main areas:
▪

issue of loans,

▪

issue of guarantees and insurances

▪

bank deposits.

The Bank has two branches in Drama Regional Unit, and two branches in Evros Regional Unit.

2. Basis for the preparation of Annual Financial Statements
2.1. General information
The Bank prepares the official Financial Statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), in the frame of the mandatory transition to this accounting framework as from 1.1.2015, in
accordance with the provisions of Article 1, part. 3c, Law 4308/2014 “Greek GAAP, relevant regulations and other
provisions”. The Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost principle except for assessing
the fair value of the Bank trading portfolio. Under the transition to IFRS, the property of the Bank was valued at
deemed cost, in accordance with IFRS 1, following a study performed by independent appraisers.

The Bank applied the same accounting policies as those effective as at 31.12.2020.
There are no standards applied earlier than their implementation date.

The preparation of the financial statements according to GAAP requires the use of estimates and judgments that
affect the balances of asset and liability items as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at the
financial statements preparations date and the reported revenue and expenses for the years under audit.
Although these estimates are based on the best knowledge of the Management, actual results may ultimately
differ from these estimates.
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2.2. Going Concern Principle
The Bank's Financial Statements were prepared on the basis of the going concern principle, despite the fact that
there are factors generating uncertainty and are mainly related to the Bank's capital adequacy, its inability in
recent years to generate operating profits and temporary restrictions set by the BoG regarding its credit operation.
However, the Bank's Management estimates that the aforementioned principle remains strong in assessing the
following:
▪ Consecutive capital increases of €7.7 million in the last (2) years and the intended future increases which,
according to the Bank's Business Plan, exceed €23 million in the period of 2022-2024
▪ the operational and digital transformation of the Bank
▪ the improved level of liquidity
▪ the change of the Bank's business model with the development of electronic B2B services and electronic
payment products resulting in the increase of income from fees and commissions as well as the achievement of
satisfactory profitability
▪ limiting the stock of NPLs by outsourcing management to QQuant Master Servicer
▪ reducing operating costs by optimizing the network and developing information systems
▪ the restart of the Greek economy in the context of the expected pandemic health control and the use of
resources from the Recovery Fund.
Macroeconomic Environment: In 2021, Greek economy recovered rapidly, as vaccinations rollout helped contain
the pandemic and allowed social distancing measures to be gradually lifted and the economy to restart. Actual
GDP increased by 8.3%, due to strong growth in exports of goods and services, particularly tourism, the increase
in gross fixed capital formation and the recovery in private consumption. At the same time, developments in the
labor market were favorable and the unemployment rate decreased. In 2022, the prospects for the economy and
the financial segment are inevitably shadowed by new, major uncertainties. However, despite the increased
energy costs and while the signs of the pandemic are still visible, other factors are still having a positive effect,
among which one could mention an increase in employment and previous accumulation of savings, business plans
financing through the NGEU (Next Generation EU) and ongoing increase in exports, which constitute the key
recovery drivers.
The risks that could inhibit the basic scenario of ongoing strong recovery are mainly related to the energy crisis
and inflationary pressures that could be strengthened by the ongoing geopolitical tensions, following the Russian
invasion in Ukraine, if combined with supply chain and supply-side disruptions, affecting household and business
income.

Capital adequacy in general: The Bank is subject to the risk of having insufficient funds to meet the minimum
regulatory capital adequacy requirements. In addition to this, the applicable minimum capital adequacy thresholds
may in the future increase or change the way they currently apply to capital requirements. The Total Capital Ratio
may be affected by a lot of factors, including deterioration in economic conditions and impairment of assets.
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From January 1st of 2014, the Directive 2013/36/E.U. of the European Parliament and the Council was
implemented, at 26th of June of 2013 which was incorporated in Greek Law through Law 4261/2014 and
Regulation 575/2013 of the European Parliament and the Council of Europe at 26th of June of 2013 («CRD IV»),
which gradually introduce the new equity adequacy framework of credit institutions into the standards of Basel
III. According to the above institutional framework for the calculation of the Total Capital Ratio the transitional
provisions as applied will be followed.

Moreover:
Apart from the threshold of 8% for the Total Capital Ratio, 4.5% threshold applies to the common equity ratio and
6% for the ratio of Capital Tier 1, while a capital conservation buffer is projected to remain, in addition to the
common shares.
In particular:
i.

“Reserve for capital conservation Capital Tier 1 common shares”, which hereinafter stands at 2,500%,
and

ii.

“Special countercyclical capital buffer”, which was zero from 2016 to 2020. It is to be noted that the
special zero countercyclical capital buffer, remaining at zero until the second quarter of 2021 under BoG
Decision 186/18.03.2021.

The BoG, taking into account the extraordinary conditions that have been formed due to the pandemic of Covid19 with the 338 / 13.12.2019 Credit and Insurance Committee Decision has defined the minimum total capital
ratio (SARP)1 at 10.64% from 01.01.2020. It is to be noted that the Bank is subject to the capital requirements for
the maintenance of a capital reserve of 2.5% in accordance with article 122 of Law 4261/2014, in this context the
maintenance of the reserve will be assessed according to the prevailing conditions. Moreover, the Bank is
recommended to meet an additional capital direction of + 2% (Pillar 2 Capital Guidance).

The Bank’s capital adequacy: CAD Ratio stood at 8,80 %, while the minimal requirements are presented in the
table below as follows:

Ratios

CET 1
TIER I
Total Capital Ratio

31/12/2021

31/12/2020

8,80%
8,80%
8,80%

9,910%
9,910%
9,910%

Change

-1,11%
-1,11%
-1,11%

Total
Capital
Ratio

Special
Security
CounterMinimum
Reserves
Cyclical buffer
capital
under
under L.
requirements
L. 4261/2014
4261/2014
0,00%
4,50%
0,00%
6,00%
2,64%
0,00%
0,00%
10,64%

Additional
BoG Capital
Requirements

4,50%
6,00%
8,00%

Margin

-1,84%

In FY 2021, the Bank does not fully comply with all the requirements for compliance with the minimum limits of
Security Deposits and the Total Capital Ratio, as defined and reviewed by the BoG. According to the Credit and
Insurance Committee Decision 338/1/13.12.2019, the observance of the EDEA Total Capital Ratio by 10.64% was
imposed from 1/1/2020, the obligatory observance of a security deposit of 2.5% according to Article 122 of Law

1

Supervisory Review & Assessment Process
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4261/2014, the need to maintain an additional margin of Capital Direction (Pillar 2 Capital Guidance) by 2% plus
the total capital requirements of EDEA and security deposits. The Credit and Insurance Committee Decision
345/1/10.02.2020 required the Board of Directors of the Bank to review its financial position and prepare an
action plan for its compliance with the supervisory requirements under the Credit and Insurance Committee
Decision 338/1/13.12.2019 until 31/3/2020, which was extended successively until 30/06/2020 according to the
Credit and Insurance Committee Decision 350/1/01.04.2020 and until 30.09.2020 according to the Credit and
Insurance Committee Decision/364/2/09.07.2020. In addition, a temporary restriction on new loans and credits
was imposed in order to prevent the risk of increasing bad debts and a restriction on payment of any variable
remuneration was also imposed in order to avoid worsening the Bank's capital position. Pursuant to Law
4261/2014, the BoG may, at its discretion and decision, demand that the credit institutions that do not comply
with the minimum initial capital should adjust their equity to the minimum required initial capital. Under article
12, Law 4261/2014, the Bank should maintain a minimum equity capital of € 10,000,000. Credit and Insurance
Committee Decision 408/11/17.12.2021 required an increase in the cooperative capital until 30/04/2022 by € 2.44
million in order to cover the minimum required initial capital of € 10 million as defined in the Bank of Greece
Governor’s Act 2471/ 10.04.2001. In this context, on 31/12/2021 the cooperative capital was increased by €
1,100,001.52, as certified by the decision of the Bank's Board of Directors as of 04/01/2022.
Liquidity: Liquidity risk is a significant risk, mainly arising from external factors not controlled by the Bank.
On 31.12.2021, deposits (customers and other financial institutions) increased by € 1,49 million (1,72%) compared
to 31.12.2020, improving the liquidity of the Institution.

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)
Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR)

31/12/2021
Required Benchmark
LCR> 100%
NSFR> 100%

31/12/2020
Ratio
Required benchmark
177,10% LCR> 100%
118,33% NSFR> 100%

Ratio
303,7%
118,0%

The Bank's main sources of financing include customer deposits, cooperative capital and borrowings from other
credit institutions. Customer deposits have stabilized, however there is significant concentration. The Bank has
available Assets that can be pledged to raise additional liquidity. The Bank exceeds the LCR and NSFR liquidity
supervisory ratios.

Management Actions:
a) Conversion of Deferred Tax Assets into Permanent & Net Receivables Against the Greek State (Article 27A
Law 4172/2013): The Bank joined the special regime under Article 27A of Law 4172/2013, regarding the optional
conversion of deferred tax assets on temporary disputes, in permanent and net assets against the Greek State.
The objective of this integration is to secure the DTA by converting then into CTA, with a corresponding benefit in
the calculation of Supervisory Equity and Supervisory Ratios and the future increase in liquidity due to collection
of cash and cash equivalents.
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b) Increase of Cooperative Capital with Private Participation: In 2020, the increase in the Cooperative Capital of
the Bank by € 2.300.002,42 was performed through private participation, on one hand, with capitalization of the
deposited amount intended for a capital increase of 700,000 euros and, on the other hand, with new shareholders'
contributions o f€ 1,600,002.42, with the issue of 827.339 shares at the price of 2.78 each. In addition, the Bank's
business plan provides for further strengthening the Bank's equity during the current year.
c) New Business plan makes provisions for significant capital support/capital increases in order to obtain the
Regional and National operating license.
2.3. New Accounting Standards and IFRIC Interpretations
The Bank has adopted all the new standards and interpretations, whose application is mandatory for fiscal years
starting on 1 January 2021. Paragraph 2.3.1 presents the standards that have been adopted as of 1 January 2021.
The standards, amendments and interpretations that have not yet entered into force or have not been adopted
by the EU are presented in paragraph 2.3.2.

2.3.1. New Standards, Interpretations, Revisions and Amendments to existing Standards that are effective
and have been adopted by the European Union
The following new Standards, Interpretations and amendments of IFRSs have been issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), are adopted by the European Union, and their application is mandatory from
or after 01/01/2021.
▪

Amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” – deferral of IFRS 9 (effective for annual periods starting

on or after 01/01/2021)
In June 2020, the IASB issued amendments that declare deferral of the date of initial application of IFRS 17 by two
years, to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. As a consequence, the IASB also extended the fixed
expiry date for the temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” in IFRS 4 “Insurance
Contracts”, so that the entities are required to apply IFRS 9 for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2023. The amendments do not affect the separate Financial Statements.
▪

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16: ”Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2”
(effective for annual periods starting on or after 01/01/2021)

In August 2020, the IASB has finalized its response to the ongoing reform of IBOR and other interest benchmarks
by issuing a package of amendments to IFRS Standards. The amendments complement those issued in 2019 and
focus on the effects on financial statements when a company replaces the old interest rate benchmark with an
alternative benchmark rate as a result of the reform. More specifically, the amendments relate to how a company
will account for changes in the contractual cash flows of financial instruments, how it will account for a change in
its hedging relationships as a result of the reform, as well as relevant information required to be disclosed. The
amendments do not affect the separate Financial Statements.
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▪

Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases”: Covid-19 – Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (effective
for annual periods starting on or after 01/04/2021)

In March 2021, the IASB issued amendments to the practical expedient of IFRS 16, that extend the application
period by one year to cover Covid-19-related rent concessions that reduce only lease payments due on or before
30 June 2022. The amendments do not affect the separate Financial Statements.
2.3.2.

New Standards, Interpretations, Revisions and Amendments to existing Standards that have not been

applied yet or have not been adopted by the European Union
The following new Standards, Interpretations and amendments of IFRSs have been issued but have not been
adopted by the European Union:
▪

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”, IAS 37
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” and “Annual Improvements 2018-2020”
(effective for annual periods starting on or after 01/01/2022)

In May 2020, the IASB issued a package of amendments which includes narrow-scope amendments to three
Standards as well as the Board’s Annual Improvements, which are changes that clarify the wording or correct
minor consequences, oversights or conflicts between requirements in the Standards. More specifically:
-

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations update a reference in IFRS 3 to the Conceptual Framework

for Financial Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business combinations.
-

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment prohibit a company from deducting from the cost

of property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the company is preparing
the asset for its intended use. Instead, a company will recognize such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or
loss.
-

Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets specify which costs a

company includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making.
-

Annual Improvements 2018-2020 make minor amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International

Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 41 Agriculture and the Illustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16 Leases.
The Bank will examine the impact of the above on its Financial Statements, though it is not expected to have any.
The above have been adopted by the European Union with effective date of 01/01/2022.
▪

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” (effective for annual periods starting on or after 01/01/2023)

In May 2017, the IASB issued a new Standard, IFRS 17, which replaces an interim Standard, IFRS 4. The aim of the
project was to provide a single principle-based standard to account for all types of insurance contracts, including
reinsurance contracts that an insurer holds. A single principle-based standard would enhance comparability of
financial reporting among entities, jurisdictions and capital markets. IFRS 17 sets out the requirements that an
entity should apply in reporting information about insurance contracts it issues and reinsurance contracts it holds.
Furthermore, in June 2020, the IASB issued amendments, which do not affect the fundamental principles
introduced when IFRS 17 has first been issued. The amendments are designed to reduce costs by simplifying some
OLYMPUS COOPERATIVE BANK | Annual Financial Report for FY 2021

36

requirements in the Standard, make financial performance easier to explain, as well as ease transition by deferring
the effective date of the Standard to 2023 and by providing additional relief to reduce the effort required when
applying the Standard for the first time. The Bank will examine the impact of the above on its Financial Statements,
though it is not expected to have any. The above have been adopted by the European Union with effective date
of 01.01.2023.
▪

Amendments to IAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current” (effective for annual periods
starting on or after 01/01/2023)

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 that affect requirements for the presentation of liabilities.
Specifically, they clarify one of the criteria for classifying a liability as non-current, the requirement for an entity
to have the right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments include: (a) specifying that an entity’s right to defer settlement must exist at the end of the reporting
period; (b) clarifying that classification is unaffected by management’s intentions or expectations about whether
the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement; (c) clarifying how lending conditions affect classification; and
(d) clarifying requirements for classifying liabilities an entity will or may settle by issuing its own equity
instruments. Furthermore, in July 2020, the IASB issued an amendment to defer by one year the effective date of
the initially issued amendment to IAS 1, in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. The Bank will examine the impact
of the above on its Financial Statements, though it is not expected to have any. The above have not been adopted
by the European Union.
▪

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” (effective for annual periods starting on or
after 01/01/2023)

In February 2021, the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments that pertain to accounting policy disclosures. The
objective of these amendments is to improve accounting policy disclosures so that they provide more useful
information to investors and other primary users of the financial statements. More specifically, companies are
required to disclose their material accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting policies.
The Bank will examine the impact of the above on its Financial Statements, though it is not expected to have any.
The above have not been adopted by the European Union.
▪

Amendments to IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of
Accounting Estimates” (effective for annual periods starting on or after 01/01/2023)

In February 2021, the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments that they clarify how companies should distinguish
changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates. That distinction is important because
changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively only to future transactions and other future events, but
changes in accounting policies are generally also applied retrospectively to past transactions and other past
events. The Bank will examine the impact of the above on its Financial Statements, though it is not expected to
have any. The above have not been adopted by the European Union.
▪

Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction” (effective for annual periods starting on or after 01/01/2023)
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In May 2021, the IASB issued targeted amendments to IAS 12 to specify how companies should account for
deferred tax on transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations – transactions for which companies
recognise both an asset and a liability. In specified circumstances, companies are exempt from recognising
deferred tax when they recognise assets or liabilities for the first time. The amendments clarify that the exemption
does not apply and that companies are required to recognise deferred tax on such transactions. The Bank will
examine the impact of the above on its Financial Statements, though it is not expected to have any. The above
have not been adopted by the European Union.
▪

Amendments to IFRS 17 “Insurance contracts: Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – Comparative
Information” (effective for annual periods starting on or after 01/01/2023)

In December 2021, the IASB issued a narrow-scope amendment to the transition requirements in IFRS 17 to
address an important issue related to temporary accounting mismatches between insurance contract liabilities
and financial assets in the comparative information presented when applying IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” and
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” for the first time. The amendment aims to improve the usefulness of comparative
information for the users of the financial statements. The Bank will examine the impact of the above on its
Financial Statements, though it is not expected to have any. The above have not been adopted by the European
Union.
▪

Amendment to IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”: Onerous Contracts—Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract (effective for annual periods starting on or after 01/01/2022)

The amendment to IAS 37 clarifies that the cost of fulfilling a contract comprises the costs that relate directly to
the contract. Such costs include both - the directly attributable costs and the proportion of other costs directly
related to fulfilling the obligations arising from a contract.
▪

Annual Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards 2018-2020

(effective for annual

periods starting on or after 01/01/2022)
As part of the program of annual improvements to the International Accounting Standards, the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued, on 14.5.2020, non-urgent but necessary amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS
9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41.
▪

Amendment to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”: Proceeds before Intended Use (effective for
annual periods starting on or after 01/01/2022)

The amendment to IAS 16 changes the way of recording the cost of an asset’s good operation tests and the net
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing an asset into the particular location and condition. The
proceeds from selling such items, and the cost of producing those items, will be recorded in profit or loss instead
of being deducted from the acquisition cost of the assets.

The Bank does not intend to apply any of the Standards or Interpretations at an earlier date. In accordance with
the accounting policies followed, the Management does not expect significant impact on the financial statements
of the Bank from the application of the abovementioned Standards and Interpretations when they become
effective.
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2.4. Change in accounting policy
Change in accounting policy – IAS 19
In May 2021, the IFRS Interpretations Committee published its Final Agenda Decision, “Attributing Benefit to
Periods of Service (IAS 19 Employee Benefits)”. The Decisions discloses explanatory material regarding the way to
attribute benefits to period of service under a particular defined benefit plan similar to the one defined in Article
8, Law 3198/1955 regarding provision of compensation due to retirement (the "Defined Benefit Plan under the
Labor Law").
In particular, the above final decision of the Commission's agenda provides explanatory information on application
of the key principles set in IAS 19, regarding attributing benefits to periods of service similar to a defined benefit
plan, set out under the Labor Law. The aforementioned Decision amends the way in which the key principles of
IAS 19 used to apply in Greece in the past in this regard. Consequently, according to the provisions defined in the
IASB Due Process Handbook (par. 8.6), entities that prepare their financial statements in accordance with IFRS are
required to change their accounting policies in this regard.
Based on the above, the aforementioned final decision has been will be treated as a Change in Accounting Policy,
applying the change retroactively from the beginning of the first comparative period, in accordance with par. 19
- 22 of IAS 8. The change in accounting policy was applied retroactively, with a corresponding adjustment to the
opening balance of every affected equity item for the prior periods presented and the other comparative amounts
for every prior period presented as if the new accounting policy had always been in use. The requirements of IAS
8 on disclosures in cases of Changes in Accounting Policies have been applied accordingly. The above final decision
of the Commission's agenda gets into effect immediately.

The following table briefly presents the amendments arising from the change in accounting policy as at
31.12.2020:
Changes in the present value of liabilities

12/31/2020

Amounts in €

Opening period present value of liabilities 1/1/2020
Changes 2019-2020
Effect of revised IAS 19 1/1/2020
Closing period value of liabilities (Revised)
Deferred tax of the effect

268,044.11
-104,163.42
-107,568.18
56,312.51
16,330.63

2.5. Measurement and Reporting Currency
The Bank's measurement and reporting currency is euro. The Financial Statements are presented in euro and the
explanations and notes to the financial statements are presented in euro unless otherwise stated.
2.6. Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purpose of preparation of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of “Cash on
hand and at the Central Bank” and “Short-term balances due from banks” with maturity date of less than 3 months.
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2.7. Financial Instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that creates a financial asset for one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument for another entity. Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the Statement of financial
Position of the Bank, once binding for at least one contractual party of the financial instrument.
2.7.1.

Recognition and measurement

Investments and other (primary) financial assets (IFRS 9):
Classification and measurement
Under IFRS 9, financial assets are classified into one of the following three categories:
a) at amortized cost, provided that both of the following conditions are met:
i.

the financial asset is retained within a business model, the objective of which is to hold financial assets for
the purpose of collecting contractual cash flows; and

ii.

under the contractual conditions governing the financial asset, created specific dates cash flows consisting
exclusively of repayment of principal and interest on the solely payments of principle and interest –(SPPI).
b) at fair value through other comprehensive results directly in equity, provided that the following
conditions are met:

i.

the financial asset is retained in the context of a business model the objective of which is achieved both by
the collection of contractual cash flows and the sale of financial assets; and

ii.

based on the contractual terms of the financial asset, cash flows that consist exclusively of capital
repayments and interest on the outstanding capital are generated at specific dates.
• at fair value through profit and loss in all the other cases, the financial assets will be measured at fair

value through profit or loss.
Business model evaluation
The business model of an entity is set at a level that reflects the way in which financial asset groups are managed
together to achieve a particular business objective. It essentially refers to the way in which an entity manages its
financial assets to generate cash flows. That is, the business model determines whether cash flows arise from the
collection of contractual cash flows, the sale of financial assets, or both. Under IFRS 9, it is stated that financial
assets held for trading or managed at fair value shall be measured at fair value through profit or loss.

SPPI test (evaluation of contractual cash flows solely for payments of principle and interest)
In assessing whether contractual flows relate exclusively to capital and interest payments, the Bank will take into
account whether these flows are consistent with a basic loan agreement, effectively checking whether the key
interest rate components incorporate the consideration for the value over time money, credit risk and/or other
major borrowing risks as well as a profit margin. An assessment will also be made as to whether a financial asset
includes a contractual term that could affect the amount or the contractual cash flow in such a way that the above
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requirement did not cease to apply. In cases where contractual terms result in exposure to risks or volatility not
associated with a basic loan agreement, the relevant financial asset will be measured at fair value through profit
or loss.

Evaluation of changes in classification and measurement
As at the transition date, the Bank proceeded with the evaluation of the business model in its portfolios and
conducted a detailed assessment of the contractual terms in the debt securities portfolio in order to identify
possible changes in their classification and measurement. The majority of the Bank's debt securities portfolio
meets the 'SPPI' criterion.
Consequently, based on the effective business model:
• loans and receivables from customers and financial institutions are measured at amortized cost,
• οther equity instruments are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost.
Business Model

Key Characteristics

Measurement Category

Classification of instruments

Hold to Collect

▪Hold to collect cash flow
▪Cash flows represent exclusively capital and interest repayment (SPPI
criterion)
▪Sales of instruments regarding frequency and size is not probable

Amortised Cost

▪Cash and cash equivalents
▪Receivables from banks
▪Loans and trade receivables

Hold to Collect and Sell

▪Hold to collect cash flow mainly for the purpose of selling instruments
▪Cash flows represent exclusively capital and interest repayment (SPPI
criterion)

Fair Value through Other
Comprehensive Income - FVOCI

-

Other

▪Instruments cannot be classified into the two aforementioned
▪Potentially arising cash flows are of irregular frequency

Fair Value through Profit or Loss FVPL

▪Securities and investments in equity
instruments

Impairment of financial assets
IFRS 9 introduces a model of expected credit losses (ECL). The new impairment model is applied to financial
assets that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss, including loans, leases, bonds, financial collaterals
and loan commitments, and no impairment loss for equity instruments will be recognized.
IFRS 9 uses a "three-stage“ approach that reflects changes in credit quality from initial recognition.
Stage 1: Stage 1 includes financial instruments that have not had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition or that have low credit risk at the reporting date. For these assets, 12-month expected credit losses
(‘ECL’) are recognised and interest revenue is calculated on the gross carrying amount of the asset (that is, without
deduction for credit allowance). 12-month ECL are the expected credit losses that result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Stage 2: Stage 2 includes financial instruments that have had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition but that do not have objective evidence of impairment. For these assets, a provision for impairment
equal to lifetime expected losses will be recognized.
Stage 3: Stage 3 includes financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. For
these assets, lifetime ECL are recognised and interest revenue is calculated on the net carrying amount (that is,
net of credit allowance).
OLYMPUS COOPERATIVE BANK | Annual Financial Report for FY 2021

41

Measurement of expected credit losses
The amount of the expected credit loss measurement will be a weighted average estimate that takes into account
the time value of money. Credit loss is the present value of the difference between (a) the contractual cash flows
attributable to an entity under the contract and (b) the cash flows that the entity expects to receive (cash
shortfalls). The discount for determining the present value is made at the initial effective interest rate (EIR) of the
asset or the credit-adjusted EIR in terms of the purchased or initial recognition credit impaired financial assets.
The way an entity measures the expected credit losses of a financial instrument should, inter alia, reflect
reasonable and reliable information that is available at the reporting date without undue cost or effort and relates
to past events, current circumstances and future economic conditions.
For measurement purposes in respect of the expected credit losses, the Bank has taken into account the expected
cash shortfalls with cash flows from collateral or other credit protection measures contained in the contractual
terms and which are not separately recognized. An estimate of expected cash shortfalls for a collateralized
financial asset reflects the amount of cash flows and the time they are expected to accrue from the auction process
after deducting the discounted collateral expense, irrespective of whether the auction is likely to occur. Expected
credit losses will be calculated for the maximum contractual period in which the Bank is exposed to credit risk.
The maximum contractual period is determined on the basis of the essential terms of the financial instrument,
including the possibility of requesting early repayment or cancellation on the part of the Bank, as well as the right
of extension from the client side. In this context, the Bank will take into account the normal credit risk mitigation
process, past practices, future intentions and expected credit risk management measures during the period when
it was exposed to credit risk for similar financial instruments as well as time the duration of relevant defaults for
similar financial instruments following a significant increase in credit risk.
In some cases, an entity may not have reasonable and reliable information available that is made available without
undue cost or effort to measure the expected lifetime loss on an individual basis. In this case, the lifetime expected
credit losses are recognized on a collective basis taking into account comprehensive credit risk information.
This comprehensive credit risk information should incorporate not only historical information but also all relevant
credit risk information, including future-oriented macroeconomic information, which concern the future, in order
to approximate the result of the recognition of the expected credit losses over the lifetime when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk after initial recognition at the level of an individual instrument. Measurement
of expected credit losses for large exposures and impaired loans will be made on an individual basis, while for
other exposures the measurement of expected credit losses can be carried out on a collective basis.
Financial assets classification into stages:
The Bank classifies its financial assets in those measured based on expected credit losses 12 months (Stage 1)
and those for which expected credit losses recognized for the duration of their life (stage 2 and 3) in accordance
with if there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. In assessing whether a financial
asset has suffered a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Bank will take into account a
combination of quantitative and qualitative criteria including, but not limited to the following:
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▪

Contingent changes in residual lifetime probability of default,

▪

Absolute thresholds of probability of default in residual lifetime of financial asset, and

▪

Days of delay

The Management may temporarily intervene by adjusting the results of the impairment model, either individually
or collectively, for financial assets with common credit risk characteristics in order to take into account specific
situations that may not be fully reflected in the impairment models. Financial assets that have significantly
increased credit risk since initial recognition will be classified into Stage 2. When the classification criteria in Stage
2 cease to apply, the financial assets will be reclassified to Stage 1. The financial assets of the assets that are
considered impaired due to credit risk will be classified into Stage 3. Subsequent transfers from Stage 3 to Stage
2 will take place when the financial assets cease to be impaired due to credit risk.

Key parameters for determining expected credit losses
Calculation of expected credit losses is based on the probability of default (PD), (loss given default - LGD), exposure
at default (EAD) and other parameters such as the credit conversion factor (CCF) and the prepayment rate. In
general, the Bank calculates these parameters from internally-developed statistical models, point-in-time
historical data and observations, making use of the effective infrastructures it has developed in respect of the
regulatory framework and risk management practices. Expected credit losses are calculated according to the
following formula:
ECL calculation formula
Abbreviation

Expected Credit Loss

Loss Given Default

ECL = PD * EAD * LGD

LGD = LGL * (1 - Cure Rate)

ECL

Expected Credit Loss

Expected Credit Loss

PD

Probability of default

Probability of default

LGD

Loss Given Default

Loss Given Default

LGL

Loss Given Loss

Loss Given Loss

EAD

Exposure-at-default

Exposure-at-default

Cure Rate

Cure Rate

2.7.2. Definition of financial instruments fair value
Fair value is defined as the price at which an asset (financial or otherwise) is sold or the price to be paid to transfer
a liability (financial or otherwise) in a normal transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
In accordance with the fair value measurement, it is assumed that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either: (i) on the principal market for the asset or liability, or (ii) if no principal market, the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
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A financial instrument is considered to be negotiable in a main market if the prices are negotiated directly and
regularly available from an exchange, broker, industry group, a pricing service company or regulatory body and
those prices represent current and regular market transactions carried out at arm's length basis.
An entity need not undertake exhaustive search of all possible markets to identify the principal market or, in the
absence of principal market, the most advantageous market, but takes into account all reasonably available
information. When such evidence to the contrary is absent, the market in which an entity would normally
undertake a transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability is considered to be the principal market or in
absence of the principal market, the most advantageous market. If there is a principal market for the asset or
liability, the fair value measurement represents the price on that market (whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique), even if the price in a different market is potentially more
advantageous at the measurement date.
IFRS 13 establishes the hierarchy of valuation models on the objectivity of the data used in these models
(observable or non- observable data). The observable data are based on observable market data and derived from
independent sources, unobservable inputs are referred to management assumptions. The Bank calculates the fair
value of financial instruments based on the relevant framework which classifies financial assets into a three-level
hierarchy based on the data used for their valuation, as described below:
Level 1: Investments that are valued at fair value based on quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for
comparable assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Investments that are valued at fair value, using valuation techniques for which all inputs that significantly
affect the fair value, are based (either directly or indirectly) on observable market data.
Level 3: Investments that are valued at fair value, using valuation techniques, in which the data that significantly
affects the fair value, is not based on observable market data.
Derecognition: A financial asset is derecognized when the Bank loses control over the contractual rights contained
in this item. This occurs when the rights expire or are transferred and the Bank has transferred substantially all
the risks and benefits of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognized when the Bank's obligation to pay cash
or other financial assets is extinguished.
Offsetting: Financial assets and liabilities may be offset and the net amount may appear in the Statement of
financial Position when there is a contractual right that allows offsetting the amounts recorded and, at the same
time, there is an intention either to simultaneously settle the total amount of both - the financial asset and the
obligation – or to settle the net amount obtained after offsetting.
2.8.

Investment Property

Property that is held for long-term lease and/or for capital appreciation are classified as investment property.
Investment property is initially recognized at cost, including related transaction costs. After initial recognition,
investment property is carried at fair value, as estimated by an appraiser. The fair value is based on market prices,
adjusted, if necessary, depending on the nature, location and condition of the specific asset. Additionally, in
accordance with IFRS 13, the fair value measurement should take into account the ability to create benefits from
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the maximum and optimal use of the asset or by selling it to a third party that will use these assets during maximal
and optimal use.
If the information on the fair values is not available, valuation methods are used. The fair value of investment
property reflects income from current leases and assumptions about future leases, taking into account current
market conditions. Fair values also reflect any outflows expected for the investment property. Subsequent costs
are included in the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Bank and their cost can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
costs are recognized in profit or loss during the year in which they incurred. For properties not appraised by
appraisers, the fair value is determined based on methodology estimates from realized prices.
Changes in fair value are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. If an investment property
becomes owner-occupied (operational), it is reclassified as tangible assets and its fair value at the date of
reclassification becomes its cost. The property being constructed or developed for future use as investment
property is classified as tangible assets and recognized at cost until the construction or development, so it is
reclassified and subsequently accounted for as investment property. The investment property held for sale
without redevelopment is classified within non-current assets held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5.
2.9. Intangible Assets
Software licenses are valued at cost less depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
over the useful life of these assets, which is estimated at 10 years. Costs associated with software development
and maintenance are recognized as expenses when incurred. Costs associated with the development of specific
software that is controlled by the Bank are recognized as intangible assets. Such costs include wages and salaries
as well as an appropriate proportion of general overheads.
2.10. Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured as follows:
a)

Land and buildings are measured at fair value, as determined by estimates of professional valuers, based

on market data, in accordance with IAS 16.
b)

Mechanical equipment, vehicles, computers, ATMs and other items are carried at cost less accumulated

depreciation and potential impairment.
Fair value of the assets falling within the first category (a) of the first case or acquisition cost of the assets of the
second category (b) includes all directly attributable costs for their acquisition. Fair value may also include gains
or losses from hedging the foreign currency exchange rate risk arising under the acquisition of assets recorded in
the equity reserves. Subsequent expenses are recognized as an increase in the fair value or acquisition cost
respectively or as a separate asset only if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Bank and
their cost can be measured reliably.
In accordance with IAS 23, borrowing costs are transferred to increase the cost of the related asset when the
conditions of IAS 23 are met. Specifically, the requirements of IAS 23 state that: a) the cost of borrowing must be
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that requires significant preparation
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period for the use for which it is intended or for sale (qualifying asset) and b) borrowing costs will been avoided if
the expenditure for the asset had not been made.
Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to results when incurred.
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation of other tangible assets is calculated using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:
Asset Category
Improvement in leased real estate property

Coefficient
Useful Life
Lease term or useful life

Buildings-technical installations

2,5% - 4%

25 to 40 years

Mechanical equipment

20,00%

5 years

Vehicles

20,00%

5 years

Other equipment

10,00%

10 years

The residual values and useful lives of tangible assets are reviewed at each Statement of Financial Position date.
When the book value of tangible assets exceeds their recoverable value, the difference (impairment) is
immediately recorded as an expense in the income statement.
Upon sale of tangible assets, the difference between the proceeds and the book value is recorded as profit or loss.
Following the initial recognition, land plots and buildings whose fair value can be measured reliably are recorded
at readjusted amount, which includes their fair value at the date of revaluation. Adjustments are made on regular
basis, so that the book value should not significantly differ from the value that would be determined using the fair
value at the date of the Statement of Financial Position.
Frequency of adjustments depends on changes in the fair value of assets that are subject to revaluation. When
the fair value of revalued land plots or buildings significantly differs from their book value, further readjustment
is required.
When a building is readjusted, its accumulated depreciation on the revaluation date is restated, depending on the
change in the value of the asset prior to depreciation, so that its carrying amount after revaluation should equal
the amount of the revalued asset.
If the book value of a land plot or a building increases as a result of revaluation, the increase is credited directly to
equity under the title “revaluation surplus”. However, a revaluation increase is recognized in profit or loss to the
extent it reverses previous devaluation of the same asset previously recognized in profit or loss.
If the book value of a land plot or a building decreases as a result of a revaluation, the decrease is recognized in
profit or loss. However, the decrease will be charged directly to equity, to the revaluation surplus, to the extent
there is a credit balance in the revaluation surplus in respect of the particular asset.
Revaluation surpluses included in equity can be transferred directly to retained earnings when a land plot or a
building is written off. This may involve the transfer of the entire surplus when a land plot or a building are
withdrawn or disposed of. However, a part of the surplus may also be transferred during the use of the asset. In
such a case, the amount of the surplus that may be carried forward comprises the difference between the
readjusted book value and the cost based on the depreciation charge. Transfers from revaluation surpluses to
retained earnings should not be conducted through gains or losses.
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The effects of taxes on income from potential revaluation of tangible assets are recognized and disclosed in
accordance with IAS 12 "Income Taxes".
2.11. Impairment of Non-financial Assets
Fixed assets and other non-current assets are reviewed for possible impairment losses whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Whenever the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the impairment loss is recognized in the income statement.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of either the net selling price or the value in use. Net selling
price is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm's length transaction in which participating
parties have full knowledge and participate voluntarily, after deducting any additional direct disposal costs and
value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of an
asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an asset for which there is evidence of impairment, then the recoverable amount of the unit generating cash flows
to which the asset belongs is assessed.
Reversal of any impairment losses for assets classified in previous years is possible only if there are sufficient
indications that such impairment no longer exists or has decreased. In such cases, the reversal is recognized as
income.
2.12. Income Tax and Deferred tax
The annual income tax consists of current taxes and deferred taxes, i.e. the tax charges or credits which have been
already assessed or will be assessed by the tax authorities in other years. Income tax is recognized in the income
statement.
Taxable profit differs usually from profit reported in profit or loss as it excludes taxable or deductible temporary
differences and items which are permanent differences or tax exempted. Current taxes are determined in
accordance with tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal years to which they relate, based on taxable profit
for the year.
Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on all taxable temporary differences at the balance sheet date
between the tax base and the book value of assets and liabilities. The expected tax effects from the temporary tax
differences are determined using tax rates expected to apply in the period of recovery of assets or/and settlement
of liabilities. These appear either as future (deferred) tax liabilities or as deferred tax assets. Deferred tax liabilities
are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that there
will be future taxable gains for the use of temporary difference that creates the deferred tax asset. Deferred tax
is not recognized if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination, which when it occurred did not affect neither accounting nor taxable result, whether profit or loss.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow recovery of the claim (as a whole
or partly).
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
additionally the Bank intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. Under the effective tax
legislation (Article 27A, Law 4172/2013), deferred tax assets may be converted into final and liquidated asses by
the Greek State in case of loss-bearing results (deferred tax asset not based on future profitability).
Deferred taxes charge or improve the income statement. In exceptional cases, when they relate to items or
transactions that are recorded directly in equity, in the same or a different period, they are recorded in a similar
manner directly in equity.
2.13. Foreclosed Assets
Properties repossessed through an auction process to recover impaired loans are accounted for in accordance
with the provisions of IAS 2 as inventory and valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The acquisition
cost of property determined in accordance with the method of weighted average cost. Net realizable value is the
estimated selling price less selling costs. Gains and losses arising from the sale of assets through auctions, are
recognized in the income statement.

2.14. Other Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently are measured at amortized cost.
They include liabilities to banks and liabilities to customers.
2.15. Debt Securities in Issue
Liabilities from issuance of debt securities and other borrowed funds are recognized initially at fair value (income
from their issue, minus the realized issue costs). After initial recognition, debt securities and borrowed funds are
shown at amortized cost. Any difference between the income from the issuance (net of transaction costs) and the
disbursement value is recognized in profit or loss over the duration of the securities using the effective interest
method. Liabilities from securities and borrowed funds of the Bank also include senior subordinated loans.
2.16. Employee Benefits
IAS 19 distinguishes the post-employment benefits into defined benefits and defined contribution plans. The
defined contribution plan is recorded as expense in each period and is equal to the amount paid by the employer.
The accounting treatment of defined benefit plans involves an actuarial valuation, because the standard requires
the cost to be allocated to each employee work period. The provisions of Law 2112/1920, as amended by Law
4093/2012, are classified as defined benefit for the purposes of IAS 19. The actuarial method used is the Projected
Unit Credit Method.
The amended IAS 19 also requires as follows:
▪

direct recognition of actuarial gains/losses in other comprehensive income and their final exemption from

the income statement,

OLYMPUS COOPERATIVE BANK | Annual Financial Report for FY 2021

48

▪

non-recognition of the expected returns on investment program in profit or loss but recognition of such

interest in the net liability/(asset) of the provision calculated based on the discount rate used to measure the
defined benefit obligation,
▪

recognition of past service cost in profit or loss at the earlier of the date of modification of the program

or when the related restructuring is recognized or the terminal payment occurs and
▪

other changes including the new disclosures such as quantitative sensitivity analysis.

2.17. Equity – Cooperative Capital
Under certain conditions (see below) the Bank is an open capital organization. Rights and obligations of the
shareholders of the Cooperative Bank are regulated by Law 1667/1986, as amended by Law 4340/2015, the
decisions of the Cooperative Bodies and the Articles of Association. These Articles do not include clauses more
restrictive than those designated by Law.
Cooperative Share (Article of Association, Article 22):
Each shareholder has the right to acquire an unlimited number of shares above the statutory minimum. The
shareholder’s liability cannot exceed the nominal value of owned shares against any obligations of the Cooperative
created both prior to registration and during the period of membership. Any liability of this sort lapses one year
after the exit of the shareholder, or termination of the bankruptcy process, or of a wind up in case of dissolution
of the Cooperative.
It is permitted to issue optional shares without voting rights, with privilege, which will constitute the right to
receive a dividend multiplied by the dividend corresponding to every common cooperative share. During the
distribution of net profits and proceeds of liquidation, every single cooperative shares are addresses in the same
line. In order to make a decision on the issuance of these preferred optional cooperative shares and set the
aforementioned dividend multiplier, the General Meeting of the shareholders is in quorum in accordance with
paragraph 3, Article 20 of the Articles of Association and the majority as defined under paragraph 4 of the same
Article is required.
Obligatory and optional shares are of equal value and produce the same rights and obligations with the exception
of the restrictions of par. 3 of article 18 of the Articles of Association.
By decision of the General Meeting of the members of the Cooperative as of 5/6/2019, the nominal value of every
cooperative share stood at € 2.78.
The Cooperative share is indivisible and equal for all shareholders without exception, and is paid in due time in
accordance with the applicable decisions of the Board of Directors.
Bonds and optional shares may be introduced to a regulated market under par. 10, Article 2, Law 3606/2007.
These bonds and optional shares are kept in electronic form in the book-entry system under Law 3756/2009, as
specified in the Articles of Association. Regarding the transfer, liens and enforcing seizures on bonds and optional
shares, the relevant provisions regarding listed bonds and shares are implemented, accordingly. Acquisition of
those bonds and optional shares does not provide the holders with the status of the Cooperative member.
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Contribution – cooperative share distribution value (Articles of Association, Article 23):
1. Once a year, the Board of Directors defines the contribution and the total distribution value of cooperative
shares. The contribution is determined based on the previous year financial data of the, the Cooperative financial
position and future prospects. The newly entering Cooperative members are required to pay, apart from the
amount of their share, the contribution proportional to the net assets of the Cooperative, arising from the balance
sheet for the last FY data, audited by a statutory auditor or an auditing firm.
2. In order to determine the contribution under par. (1) and the total cooperative share distribution value, the
valuation method applied includes actual equity plus capitalized annual average excess earnings for the last 5
years. The calculation of potential goodwill is certified by a statutory auditor or an auditing firm.
Limitations on Distribution/Transfer of Cooperative Capital:
In compliance with the provisions of Article 149, Law 4261/2014, the Bank cannot disburse cooperative shares
when the Capital Adequacy Ratio is below the minimum imposed by the current institutional framework of
operation. Moreover, the Bank of Greece may impose restrictions on the disbursement of cooperative shares if
the institution’s sustainability is endangered. Furthermore, due to a limitation in accordance with the Bank's
Articles of Association (Article 40), no shareholder can leave the Bank before the expiration of 3 years from the
date of registration, nor can he/she redeem any corporative share, before the expiration of 3 years from the date
of acquisition. Finally, it is to be noted that the cooperative shares (mandatory or optional) can be transferred only
to the members of the Cooperative. Transfer of shares to third parties is carried out only following the approval
of the Board of Directors provided in case there is no disagreement with the Cooperative regulations. The transfer
is performed by means of written agreement and is recorded in the Registry.
Classification of Cooperative Capital to Equity or classification as a Financial Liability IFRIC 2 Members' Shares
in Cooperative Entities and Similar Instruments:
Many financial instruments, including members' shares in cooperative entities, have characteristics of equity,
including voting rights and rights to participate in dividend distributions. Some financial instruments give the
holder the right to request disbursement for cash or another financial asset, but may include or be subject to limits
on whether the financial instruments will be redeemed. The terms of settlement determine whether the financial
instruments are recognized as equity or financial liabilities. The contractual right of the holder of a financial
instrument to request disbursement does not, in itself, determine the classification of a financial instrument as a
financial liability. Rather, the entity must consider all of the terms and conditions of the financial instrument in
determining its classification as a financial liability or equity. Those terms and conditions include relevant local
laws, regulations and Articles of Association at the date of classification, but not expected future amendments to
those laws, regulations or Articles of Association.
Sight deposits, including current accounts, deposit accounts and similar contracts that arise when members act as
customers, are financial liabilities of the entity.
In particular, the members' shares will be classified as equity if:
▪

The entity has an unconditional right to refuse disbursement of the members' shares.
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▪

Local laws or regulations or the entity's Articles of Association can impose various prohibitions on the
disbursement of members' shares, for instance unconditional prohibitions or prohibitions based on
liquidity criteria. If disbursement is unconditionally prohibited by local laws or regulations or the entity's
Articles of Association, members' shares are equity. However, provisions in local law, regulation or the
entity's Articles of Association that prohibit disbursement only if certain conditions such as restrictions on
liquidity do or do not exist, does not result in members' shares being equity.

An unconditional prohibition may be absolute, in that all disbursements are prohibited. An unconditional
prohibition may be partial, in that it prohibits disbursement of members' shares if disbursement would cause the
number of members' shares or amount of paid- in capital from members ' shares to fall below a specified level.
Members' shares in excess of the prohibition against disbursement are liabilities, unless the entity has an
unconditional right to refuse disbursement as described above. In some cases, the number of shares or amount
of paid - in capital subject to a disbursement prohibition may change from time to time. Such a change in the
disbursement prohibition leads to a transfer between financial liabilities and Equity.
Upon initial recognition, the entity shall measure its financial liability for disbursement at fair value. For members'
shares with a disbursement feature, the entity measures the fair value of the financial liability for disbursement
at no less than the maximum amount payable under the terms of discounting the charter or applicable law
discounted from the first date that this amount could become due.
As stated in paragraph 35, IAS 32, distributions to holders of equity instruments are recognized directly in equity,
net of any income tax benefits. Interest, dividends and other returns relating to financial instruments classified as
financial liabilities are expenses, regardless of whether those amounts paid are characterized in accordance with
the law as dividends, interest or other.

The Bank has recognized the entire cooperative capital in Equity equity since in accordance with the provisions
of Article 149 of Law 4261/5.5.2014, repayment of cooperative shares, including the cases of withdrawal or
exclusion of partners, which implies a reduction, within the financial year, exceeding 2% of the Equity of the
credit institution in the capacity of cooperative within the meaning of Law 1667/1986, as defined in article 92
of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 and Article 65 of the aforementioned law, a prior approval of the Bank of Greece
is required. In any case, the Bank of Greece may prohibit the repayment of cooperative shares, if the viability of
the credit institution operating in the capacity of a credit cooperative is jeopardized.
Share capital increase expenses: Direct expenses for the issue of shares appear, after the deduction of related
income tax, reducing the effect of retained earnings.
Share premium: This account comprises the difference between the nominal value of the shares issued and the
price paid.
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2.18. Provisions for Risks and Expenses
Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
it is probable that an outflow of resources to settle the obligation can be reliably estimated amount.
The Bank recognizes a provision for onerous contract when the expected benefits to be derived from the contract
are less than the unavoidable costs of obligations under the contract.
Provisions are reviewed at each year end and adjusted to reflect the best possible estimations and when deemed
necessary, they are discounted based on a pre–tax discount rate.
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements but are disclosed unless the possibility of an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is minimal. Contingent assets are not recognized in the
financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of financial debt is probable.
2.19. Leases
Accounting policy regarding leases when the Bank is a lessee:
When the Bank becomes the lessee in a lease, it recognizes a lease liability and a corresponding right-of-use a
leased asset at the beginning of the lease term, once it has gained control of the use of the asset.
Lease liabilities and rights-of-use leased assets are clearly recorded in the statement of financial position. Lease
liabilities are measured on the basis of the present value of future rentals payable during the lease period, which
are discounted using an estimated borrowing rate. Interest - expenses on lease liabilities are recorded in the
General Administrative Expenses and not in the Interest expenses.
The right-of-use a leased asset is initially recognized in an amount equal to the lease liability and is adjusted for
prepayments of rentals, initial direct costs or incentives received for the conclusion of leases. Subsequently, the
right-of-use a leased asset is amortized during the lease or the useful life of the underlying asset, if it is lower, and
the arising amortization is recorded in operating costs/amortization.
When a lease contains an option to extend or terminate a lease that the Bank estimates will be exercised, the
expected future payable rentals or the cost of early termination are included in the rentals payable used to
calculate the lease liability.
Accounting policy regarding leases when the Bank is a lessor:
The Bank continues to recognize the underlying asset and does not recognize a net investment in the lease in the
statement of financial position or initial profit (if any) in the statement of comprehensive income.
The Bank recognizes rentals paid by lessees as proportional income during the lease. It also recognizes as an
expense the costs incurred in obtaining lease income, including amortization.
2.20. Revenue Recognition
The revenue of the Bank mainly includes income from loans and interest bearing securities, portfolio management
commissions, letters of credit and other banking activities, income from dividends and other income. It is to be
noted that the Bank has adopted IFRS 15 ”Revenue from Contracts with Customers” as at 01.01.2018, however,
the implementation of the standard has not affected the financial statements. Revenue is recognized as follows:
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i) Interest income: Interest income is reported on all interest bearing balance sheet items and are recognized on
an accrual basis using the effective interest method based on calculating the purchase price. Interest income
includes interest on fixed income securities and trading securities, accrued «premium/discount» governmental
and quasi- debt and interest on loans/placements.
ii) Income from commissions: Commission income recognized during the period in which the services are provided
depending on the completion of the transaction so as to match the cost of providing the service, while those
related to credit risk are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on straight-line basis within the
period of validity of the risk.
iii) Revenue from dividends and securities: Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is
established. Income from securities is recognized on disposal.

2.21. Related Party Disclosures
In accordance with IAS 24, a natural or legal person is related when it is linked to the entity that prepares financial
statements. Two parties are considered related if one has the ability to control the other or have significant
influence over it, in making financial and operating decisions. Specifically, related parties are:
a)

Companies directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by the Bank.

b)

Associated companies in which the Bank has significant influence and are not subsidiaries.

c)

Individuals and their close relatives, who directly or indirectly, of voting rights in the Bank, which give them

significant influence over the Bank.
d)

Managers of the Bank, members of management and closely related to those persons.

e)

Companies belonging to members of the management or major shareholders of the Bank and enterprises

that have common directors with the Bank.
2.22. Segment Reporting
Under IFRS 8, operating segments are specified as those which are addressed internally by the Management as
significant in assessing segment performance and risk and allocation of available resources. Currently, the
Management monitors risks and returns from banking and financial products aggregated. Therefore, it has not
unbundled separate business segments as it manages its operations as a total.
3. Significant Accounting Policies, Estimates and Judgements
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
Requires management to make subjective judgments, estimates and assumptions by management that affect the
reported amount of assets and liabilities, and the amount of revenue and expenses in consolidated and individual
financial statements and the notes which are an integral part. The Bank's management believes that the
judgments, estimates and assumptions used in preparing the financial statements are appropriate given the
factual circumstances as of December 31 of the reporting financial year.
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A lot of policies, adopted by the Bank, by their nature, require the use of estimates, valuation assumptions and
other subjective assessments. Specifically, the Bank has reviewed certain accounting principles as important for
understanding financial statements, due to both subjective judgments, estimates and assumptions involved, and
the sensitivity of the financial statements to them.
Effects of Covid-19 pandemic
The pandemic has significantly affected the assumptions used by the Bank, increasing uncertainty of the
Management's estimates, and/or creating, at the same time, new additional crises and accounting estimates,
regarding the economic recovery period, as well as the effect that this uncertainty may have on the Bank's future
results.

3.1. Measurement of expensed credit losses
Measurement of expected credit losses requires the management to exercise a high degree of judgment. The
required estimates are based on a number of factors that can cause changes in the time of recognition of losses
as well as in the amount of recognized impairment. Calculation of expected credit losses is based on complex
models, which depend on a number of assumptions regarding selection of model variables and the
interdependencies generated by them.
The Management makes significant estimates and assumptions in respect of the following matters of expected
credit losses:
Significant Increase in Credit Risk: Given that IFRS 9 does not provide a definition of what constitutes a significant
increase in credit risk (SICR), the assessment of the deviation from initial recognition is based on sufficiently welldocumented qualitative and quantitative data pertaining to the future conditions, which, however, also involve a
degree of the Management’s judgment.
Development of Expected Credit Loss Models: For the purpose of measuring the expected credit losses, the Bank
configures the applicable model in compliance with the latest data. Calculations of the expected credit loss are
based on a set of parameters, such as EAD, PD, LGD, etc., which incorporate opinions and assumptions of the
Management regarding the future conditions. In order to develop the models, the Bank is also required to
determine the correlation between macroeconomic and financial data, while the developed models may
incorporate variables such as levels of unemployment, GDP, etc. in an attempt to facilitate getting a more accurate
result.
The Bank classifies its exposures based on their common credit risk characteristics in respect of assessing
significant credit risk increase in line with measuring the provision for impairment of loans on a collective basis.
Different categories are designed in order to capture PDs and default rates in case of default. The described
grouping is reviewed on a regular basis in order to ensure homogeneity of the credit risk characteristics among
the individual categories.
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3.2. Recoverability of Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is regulated by IAS 12 Income taxes. Deferred taxes are calculated using the liability method for all
temporary differences arising from the tax base of assets and liabilities and the respective book value. Material
temporary differences mainly relate to provisions for credit risk and deferred tax assets from deductible tax losses.
Based on the business objectives and budgeted data of the Bank, deferred tax seems totally recoverable but the
management estimates on the future development of tax results of the credit institution incorporate multiple
assumptions and estimates, some of them are not controlled by the Bank itself and its Management (economic
environment, liquidity provision, withdrawals, etc.).
Under Article 27A, Law 4172/2013, the Bank can convert the deferred tax assets on certain temporary differences
into final and liquidated receivables against the Greek State (D.T.C.).
The amount of the tax asset is the tax attributable to temporary differences arising from accumulated provisions
and other losses related to credit risk, including losses arising from direct write-off of bad receivables (without
previous provision), which have been deemed as "deferred tax asset" as at 30 June 2015. This amount is converted,
in whole or in part, on case basis, into final and liquidated receivables against the Greek State in cases when the
accounting earnings (net of tax) of the Bank record losses under the financial statements, legally audited and
approved by the Annual General Meeting of partners.
The new Law 4465/2017, published on April 4, 2017, introduces amendments to articles 27 and 27A of Law
4172/2013. In particular, Article 27 makes provisions for a 20-year amortization (transfer) period for losses arising
from loan write-offs, while the provisions of Article 27A state that, in addition to the deferred tax asset that relates
to the amount of accumulated provisions and other credit risk losses and to the residual (unamortized) debit
balance of PSI, the deferred tax asset that relates to accounting write-offs and permanent losses due to the
permanent write-off or transfer of loans may, under certain conditions, be transferred to final receivables from
the Greek State. Additions to paragraph 2, Article 27A do not entail an increase in deferred tax assets as the
paragraph makes explicit provisions for restricting the amount of tax attributable to temporary differences from
accumulated provisions and other credit risk losses as at 30 June 2015. The aforementioned amount does not
include the following: (a) potential amount of final and liquidated receivables arising from accounting losses for
the year in accordance with the provisions of Article 27A; (b) the amount of tax attributable to any subsequent
specific tax provisions relating to the above accumulated provisions; and (c) the amount of the tax corresponding
to annual depreciation of the debit difference under case a, par. 3, Article 27.
The tax rate for the calculation of D.T.A. under Article 27A shall not exceed the tax rate applicable for the tax year
2015.
Moreover, recognition of deferred tax assets (D.T.A.) and their potential conversion to DTC could be adversely
affected by: (a) future reduction in income tax rates; and (b) adverse change in legal and regulatory Framework
governing the treatment of deferred tax assets in regulatory capital.
As far as he Bank is concerned, the amount of deferred tax assets that can be converted to final asset stands at
approximately € 3,47 million. The amount regards the corresponding tax, 29%, over the temporary differences of
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accumulated provisions for credit risk, as accounted for on 30 June 2015. In essence, regarding the
aforementioned amount, there is no risk of loss in case no sufficient future profitability is achieved.
Deferred tax asset amounting to 1.413.601 Euro that relates to deductible tax losses in 2020 and 2021, has a fiveyear recovery period and requires sufficient future profitability of the Bank.
3.3. Classification of Cooperative Capital
The Bank's management considers that all the conditions for the recognition of the total cooperative capital in
equity (TIER I) in accordance with IFRIC 2 are satisfied. The change in the future of these or some of these
conditions (see par. 3.16 ) may result in the reclassification of all or part of equity in the financial liabilities. It is to
be noted that the total Equity, recorded in the Financial Statements for FY 2021, is classified into Category 1, as
defined in Articles 27-29, Regulation 575.
4. Risk Factors
4.1. Risk Management Framework
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for developing and overseeing the risk management framework,
forms the risk and capital management strategy taken in conjunction with the business objectives of the Bank and
evaluates the effectiveness of risk management policy, and capital adequacy in relation to the amount and type
of risks undertaken. The risk management framework is developed and constantly evaluated on the basis of
historical data of the Bank, the dynamics of markets, the harmonization of regulatory requirements and
international best practices. The Bank's Risk Management Division is in charge of designing, specifying and
implementing the risk management framework.
4.2. Risks associated with the Greek economy
In 2022, the prospects for the economy and the financial segment are inevitably shadowed by new, major
uncertainties. However, despite the increased energy costs and while the signs of the pandemic are still visible,
other factors are still having a positive effect, among which one could mention an increase in employment and
previous accumulation of savings, business plans financing through the NGEU (Next Generation EU) and ongoing
increase in exports, which constitute the key recovery drivers.

The risks that could inhibit the basic scenario of ongoing strong recovery are mainly related to the energy crisis
and inflationary pressures that could be strengthened by the ongoing geopolitical tensions, following the Russian
invasion in Ukraine, if combined with supply chain and supply-side disruptions, affecting household and business
income.
4.3. Financial Risks
4.3.1. Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss that may result from the possible breach of the contractual obligations of
borrowers. A borrower is considered as «default» when one or both of the following events occur:
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•

The credit institution becomes reasonably certain that the borrower is unlikely to fulfill its payment
obligations, unless the institution takes measures such as liquidation of collateral..

•

The borrower delays any of contractual repayments past due 90 days.

Measurement and monitoring of credit risk is a top priority for the Risk Management Division as it is the major
cause of financial loss for the Bank. The total exposure to credit risk arises mainly from the corporate and individual
credit loans, as well as from letters of guarantee.
Credit Risk evaluation includes:
▪

Credit rating of the Bank's borrowers as well as potential clients.

▪

Estimation of specific impairment provisions in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS).

▪

Estimation of risk-weighted exposures and capital requirements versus credit risk under Pillar I of Basel III.

▪

Estimation of intrinsic capital under Pillar II of Basel III.

▪

Estimation of the effect of stress tests.

In order to manage credit risk more effectively, the Bank applies the following policies:
▪

Define withdrawal limits under approving loans

▪

Interest rate policy based on the undertaken risk

▪

Define limits and customer acceptance criteria

▪

Periodic upgrade or degradation of borrowers

▪

Review of criteria that classify borrowers into permanent delay

▪

Determination of haircut of acceptable collateral

▪

Periodic revaluation of financial collateral

▪

Monitor specific funding and large financing exposures

▪

In determining the criteria for regulating / restructuring non-performing exposures

Credit risk originates mainly from exposures to small and medium-sized enterprises (hereinafter referred to as
SMEs) and natural persons. The creditworthiness of the Bank’s clients has worsened given the adverse changes in
the economic environment occurred. As a result of the long recession, asset quality has deteriorated in recent
years hence the Bank has increased the impairment provisions for credit risk, which now amount to 31.85% of
total loans.
For the purposes of monitoring and managing delayed debts and consequently credit risk more effectively, a
division of the Bank's portfolio into Responsible Arrears Management Divisions has been adopted, in particular
into Restructuring Division and Definitive Arrears Division. Following the effective monitoring of the credit risk,
the Credit Management manages the up-to-date loans.
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Credit risk management: Through the application of the credit limit system, the Bank manages and limits the
volume of credit risk. Credit limits determine the maximum acceptable risk undertaking versus exposures. For the
purposes of determining the clients’ limits, collaterals or coverage are taken into consideration, which reduce the
volume of undertaken risk, classifying the exposures risk into risk categories, depending on the type of collateral
or coverage and the possibility of their capitalization. For the purposes of approving the credits, approving bodies
have been established depending on the amount of the exposure.
Risk reduction techniques: The Bank obtains collateral and guarantees against credit to customers, minimizing
the overall credit risk and ensuring the repayment of loans.
For this purpose, the Bank incorporates the collateral policy, whose most important items are:
▪

Greek State Guarantees

▪

Pledges over deposits

▪

Mortgages/real estate mortgages

▪

Bank guarantee letters

▪

Pledges on checks

▪

Pledges on shares, bonds and treasury bill

▪

Contractual guarantees

Collateral valuation process: The valuation of the financial collateral takes place at regular intervals as required
by the institutional framework.
Performing loans: Monitoring loans of temporary delay shorter than 90 days. Claims are considered in default
when indications of impairment emerge.
Bad Debts: Non-performing loans which the Bank determines that it is unlikely to collect part or all of principal
and interest due, in accordance with contractual terms.

Provisions for impairment of loans to borrowers: Are conducted when there are indications that the collection
of amounts due becomes doubtful. A claim is considered as impaired when the carrying value exceeds the
expected recoverable amount.
Evidence that a loan is impaired are as follows:
•

A breach of contract.

•

Significant financial difficulty of the borrower.

•

The bankruptcy of the borrower becomes likely.

•

Indications of a reduction in future collections in particular loan groups due to sector problems or due
to the economic conditions in a specific group of loans.

Debt settlements apply where the client is financially unable to service the loan in accordance with the original
terms of his/her loan agreement. Following the assessment of these difficulties, the Bank modifies the terms of
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the contract, offering long-term, short-term or final settlement solutions to enable the borrower to service the
loan, either in whole or in part.
The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31.12.2021 and 31.12.2020 respectively is as follows:

The following tables present loans measured at unamortized cost under IFRS 9 per stage as arising following the
effect of IFRS 9 as at January 1st and December 31st 2021 respectively.

4.3.1.1 Credit Risk / Loans &Other Trade Receivables
Analysis of loan portfolio per type and maturity delays is as follows:
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Analysis of collateral:

Sensitivity analysis of real estate collaterals:
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4.3.1.2 Credit risk / Available to banks, due from banks & debt securities

4.3.2. Concentration risk
Concentration risk may arise from exposures to specific customers, groups of connected clients, on exposures to
specific groups of counterparties whose likelihood of default is influenced by common factors such as the business
sector, the macroeconomic environment, geographic location, currency etc..
The concentration of exposure to credit risk can arise from the following two types of mistaken risk diversification
in a portfolio:
• Concentration regarding large borrowers
• Sectoral concentration
Concentration regarding large borrowers relates to mistaken risk diversification resulting from high exposure to
individual counterparties or groups of connected counterparties. Sectoral concentration arises from high exposure
to clients groups affected by common factors, such as macroeconomic environment, geographical location,
operation segment, currency etc .. The fact that the total loans have been granted to the Administrative Regions
of Drama and Evros inherently generates concentration risk. One consequence of geographic concentration risk
seems to be the funding concentration risk regarding certain large borrowers.
The Bank's loan portfolio mainly comprises corporate loans and some specific SMEs loans. 28,21 % of the Bank
loans pertain to the entities involved in wholesale or retail trade. The Bank regularly monitors and examines the
size of the Large Exposures and generates additional provisions and seeks additional covers to ensure that no
borrower or group of borrowers exceed 25% of the Bank's regulatory capital.
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Concentration Risk Estimate The Bank faces increased concentration risk. The method, used in order to quantify
the concentration risk, are those that:
▪

Are well documented mathematically, and

▪

Have been successfully applied by the Banks in other countries and have been accepted by the respective
supervisory bodies.

Capital Requirements to Concentration Risk Index is calculated as the sum of the increases regarding two subindices:
Α) Sectoral Concentration Index, and
Β) Individual Concentration Index.
Calculation of sectoral and individual concentration indices takes into account all exposures to the direct risks
faced by the organization (credit lines, loans, fixed income securities, shares, liquid assets, off-balance sheet
exposures, guarantees and any other form of exposures), regardless of the portfolio (trading, available for sale
and long term) in which the exposures are recorded. The risk assumed by the Central Government, securitized
assets and exposures to derivatives are not included in the concentration risk calculations, since the Bank has no
such exposures. The accounting balances of the exposures do not include the amounts of provisions.

The following tables present exposures per sector as at 31.12.2021, as well as 10 largest exposures as at
31.12.2021 and 31.12.2020.
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4.3.3. Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk faced by the Bank in respect of decreasing the value of financial instruments and net
interest income due to adverse changes in market rates. The risk arises from timing differences in the repricing or
maturity of assets and liabilities. Changes in interest rates affect the value of assets and liabilities and the Bank’s
earnings.
As far as the Bank’s financing is concerned, no mismatch has been recorded, since both - asset financing, and liabilities
- (mostly, term deposits of three to six months maturity) – are based on a fixed rate and, therefore, the risk arising
from unexpected changes in interest rates is very low.
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4.3.4. Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is related to the possibility of the Bank’s inability to fulfill in due time and in full current and future
financial liabilities, due to lack of necessary liquidity. The process of monitoring liquidity risk, involves the classification
of assets and liabilities into time bands in accordance with their remaining term to maturity in order to ensure future
cash flows. The following tables analyze assets and liabilities into time bands in accordance with their residual maturity
at 31.12.2021 and 31.12.2020 respectively.

In order to address this risk, the Bank monitors the funding gaps that arise from the mismatch of assets and liabilities,
and takes action to bring them into balance in order to meet cash needs. The Bank finances its activities mainly
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through its clients’ deposits and cooperative capital. Moreover, in order to cover extraordinary liquidity needs, the
Bank retains NBG financing. The Bank's objective is to be able to meet expected cash outflows from cash available
within the next 30 days.
4.3.5. Operational Risk
Operational risk is a non-financial risk and refers to contingent economic loss that may occur from inadequacy, failure
or inappropriateness of established internal procedures, controls and systems, due to any external events such as
natural disasters or terrorist attacks or the human factor. In essence, this is the risk that arises from the daily
operations of the Bank and the implementation of its operational goals and this is the reason that affects risk
management process as well.
Definition of risk includes legal risk. Legal risk includes the exposure of the foundation to fines and penalties resulting
from supervisory and regulatory audit, as well as from the resolution of private settlements.
Examples of operational risk are frauds, errors and omissions from the Bank’s human resources, scandals related to
credit institution, loss of assets and technological equipment of the Bank, risks of collapse of technical systems.
The Risk Management Division is responsible for defining and monitoring the operational risk management
framework, as well as for the policies and procedures that are developed and approved by the competent Committees
and the Board of Directors.
4.3.6. Capital Adequacy
The bank is subject to the risk of having insufficient funds to meet the minimum regulatory capital adequacy
requirements. In addition to this, the applicable minimum capital adequacy limits may in the future increase
or change the way they currently apply to capital requirements. The capital adequacy index may be affected
by many factors, including the deterioration in economic conditions and the impairment of assets.
Any deterioration in the credit quality of the Bank's assets might create the need for additional regulatory
capital. The ineffective management of regulatory capital of the Bank may adversely affect the going concern
of the entity, its organic growth and the implementation of its strategy and may cause a withdrawal of
authorization by the Bank of Greece.
The Bank’s fundamental principle and main objective is to maintain a strong capital adequacy in order to
ensure the smooth operation and development of the Bank while ensuring the necessary trust between the
Institution and the market (shareholders, depositors and counterparties in general).
Data regarding capital adequacy of the Bank are submitted quarterly to ECB’s Unified Supervisory
Mechanism. The Executive Committee of the Bank of Greece defines the minimal ratios (common shares
capital, capital tier 1 and adequacy capital) that the Bank should have. The capital adequacy ratio compares
the regulatory equity with the risks (weighted assets) undertaken by the Institution. The regulatory capitals
include the capitals of common equity tier 1 (equity capital, reserves), the additional capitals tier 1 (hybrid
securities) and the capitals tier 2 (subordinate equity instruments). The weighted assets include credit risk of
investment portfolio, market risk of trade portfolio and operational risk.
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From January 1st of 2014, the Directive 2013/36/E.U. of the European Parliament and the Council was implemented,
at 26th of June of 2013 which was incorporated in Greek Law through Law 4261/2014 and Regulation 575/2013 of the
European Parliament and the Council of Europe at 26th of June of 2013 («CRD IV»), which gradually introduce the
new equity adequacy framework of credit institutions into the standards of Basel III. According to the above
institutional framework for the calculation of the capital adequacy ratio the transitional provisions as applied will be
followed.
Moreover:
Apart from the limit of 8% for the Capital Adequacy Ratio, the 4.5% limit applies to the common equity ratio and 6%
for the ratio of Capital Tier 1, while the bank shall also maintain a Capital conservation buffer, in addition to the
common shares.
The Bank ratios are as follows:

In 2021, the Bank does not adequately have all the requirements for compliance with the minimum limits of Capital
Stocks and the Capital Adequacy Ratio, as defined and examined by the BoG.
Pursuant to Law 4261/2014, the BoG may, at its discretion and by its decision, demand that the credit institutions that
do not comply with the minimum initial capital should adjust their equity to the minimum required initial capital.
Taking into account the extraordinary conditions developed due to the pandemic of Covid-19, the BoG issued the
Credit and Insurance Committee Decision 364/2/09.07.2020, extending the deadline of compliance of the Bank with
the supervisory requirements of Credit and Insurance Committee Decision 338/1/13.12.2019, under which the
minimum capital required ratio (SARP)stood at 10.64%. The Bank is subject to the capital requirements for maintaining
a security deposit of 2.5% in accordance with Article 122 of Law 4261/2014, in whose maintaining the security deposit
will be assessed according to the prevailing conditions. In addition, it is recommended that the Bank should meet an
additional capital margin of + 2% (Pillar 2 Capital Guidance).
4.3.7. Market Risk
Market Risk is defined as the probability of realizing loss from managing assets and liabilities as well as managing the
various trading portfolios due to adverse movements in prices of products included in these portfolios. Such portfolios
are portfolios of shares and stock indices, interest rates, goods, currencies, etc.
Based on the Bank policy, the total value of its portfolio assets doe not exceed the threshold for the total assets, as
defined in paragraph 12 part C of Governor's Act 2591/20.8.2007 and, therefore, the Bank and applies the provisions
of GA / BoG 2588 / 20.8.2007 for the calculation of capital requirements regarding the aforementioned risk.
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4.3.8. Foreign Currency Risk
The Bank has no transactions in foreign currency and neither does it hold significant assets or liabilities in foreign
currency. Therefore, the Bank is not exposed to foreign currency risk.

5.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income is analyzed as follows:

6.

Net Commission Income

Net commission income is analyzed as follows:
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7.

Other Income

Amounts in €
Proceeds from communi ca ti on ta ri ffs
Sa fe depos i t boxes l ea s i ng
POS l ea s i ng
Other opera ti ng i ncome
Income from di vi dends
Income from rea l es ta te va l ua ti on
Income from cus tomers l ega l s ettl ements
Commi s s i ons from i ns ura nce opera ti ons
Forecl os ed renta l s
Total

8.

01.01 - 31.12.2021
4,609
280
67
4,538
2,960
103
3,328
15,886

01.01 - 31.12.2020
893
4,049
6,707
106
5,448
2,140
1,413
20,756

Payroll Expenses

The number of personnel employed as at 31.12.2021 and 31.12.2020 was 43 persons.
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Amounts in €
Thi rd pa rties fees a nd expens es
Tel ecommuni ca tion – pos tage
Rental s of bui l di ngs
POS rental s
Ins ura nce
Repa i r a nd ma i ntena nce
El ectri ci ty
Wa ter s uppl y
IT s upport
Cl ea ni ng fees
Util i ties
Tra ns portation expens es
Tra vel expens es
Advertis ement a nd Promotion expens es
Subs cri ptions – contri butions
Dona tions - Gra nts
Stationery
Cons uma bl es
Publ i ca tion expens es
Tra vel cos ts
Cos t of judi ci a l a nd extra judi ci a l a ctions
Securi ty
Cos t of Ca s h-i n-tra ns i t
POS us e – s ervi ce expens es
Other expens es
Total

01.01 - 31.12.2021
381,997
63,357
4,500
34,558
82,177
46,365
1,531
30,002
14,742
5,433
14,511
72,329
77
16,645
4,150
1,507
11,252
2,047
22,975
135,095
275,307
1,220,559

01.01 - 31.12.2020
314,833
105,944
515
6,705
34,777
122,812
44,014
1,733
21,000
40,799
2,561
7,738
6,418
3,804
30,094
6,285
24,283
5,613
356
22,530
556
374
26,033
167,391
45,785
1.042.954

Amounts in €
Payrol l
Empl oyer’s contri buti ons and other empl oyees s al ary cos ts
Empl oyees termi nati on remunerati on
Other empl oyees charges
Total

01.01 - 31.12.2021
1,356,653
295,463
118,633
8,708
1,779,456

01.01 - 31.12.2020
1,429,038
341,877
13,020
45,540
1,829,475

9.

General Administrative Expenses
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10.

11.

Other Operating Expenses

Other Results

Amounts in €

01.01 - 31.12.2021

01.01 - 31.12.2020

220
1,162
1,800
23,079

25
(1,380)

26,261
73,206
23,602
16,000
925
18,613
2,937
2,015
206
137,503

(1,355)

(111,242)

(8,168)

Ca s h s urpl us
Revenue from pa yment of benefi ts
Profi t from di s pos a l of furni ture a nd fi xtures
Other extra ordi na ry i ncomes
Total non-operating income
Los s from wri ting off prepa yments for equi pment a nd
Other extra ordi na ry expens es
Los s from non-a menda bl e col l ections
Previ ous yea rs ’ taxes a nd duties
Los s from di s pos a l of bui l di ngs
Los s from di s pos a l of furni ture a nd fi xtures
Ca s h defi ci ent
Ta x fi nes a nd s urcha rges
Total non-operating expenses
Total other results

6,813
6,813
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12.

Deferred Tax

The change in the deferred tax asset is analyzed as follows:

13.

Earnings per Share

14.

Cash and Balances with the Central Bank

The Bank holds a current account with the Bank of Greece, in order to facilitate interbank transactions.
For the purpose of preparation of cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include balances of accounts «Cash
and balances with central banks» and «Receivables from banks», with maturities of less than three months from the
date of acquisition.

15.

Receivables from Credit Institutions

Receivables of the Bank from deposits and transactions with other credit institutions are analyzed as follows:
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16.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss

17.

Loans and Advances to Customers

Delay in loan repayment

The account of allowances for impairment of loans is analyzed as follows:

Amounts in thousand €

01.01 - 31.12.2021

Balance as at 1 January
Provisions for the year
Balance as at 31 December

01.01 - 31.12.2020

28.914

28.914

-

-

28.914

28.914
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18.

Property, plant and equipment

Changes in the account of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Self-used real estate property of Drama Cooperative Bank was valued at the transition data at fair value by
independent appraisers and it is considered of equal value as a presumed cost. The construction period interest has
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not been capitalized in accordance with IAS 23. There are no liens on the real estate of the Bank. There are no tangible
assets under finance leases.
19.

Intangible Assets

Amounts in €

Software

Acquisition value
Opening balance 1 January 2021

827,667

Addi tions

267,220

Balance 31 December 2021

1,094,887

Accumulated amortization
Opening balance 1 January 2021

638,658

Adjus ting Entri es

1,183.47

Amortiza tion

74,132.91

Balance 31 December 2021

713,974

Net book value as at 31 December
2021

380,912

20.

Deferred Tax Assets

Amounts in €

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Impairment of Panellinia Bank and other investments

460.874

460.874

Effect from IFRS 9 implementation as at 1.1.2018

783.000

783.000

Balance of provisions for credit risk

1.368.497

1.368.497

Accounting treatment of uncalculated default interest on loans with Real Estate margin

(232.290)

(232.290)

Goodwill of self-used Real Estate

(689.484)

(689.484)

Balance of fixed assets depreciation

(100.427)

(76.148)

Balance of intangible assets amortization

(149.622)

(149.393)

Derecognition of intangible assets

146.802

146.802

Provision for employees remuneration

(35.422)

(31.195)

42

473

Recognition of lease rights IFRS 16
Deferred temporary difference tax asset

a

1.551.971

1.581.137

Deferred tax asset from deductible tax losses

b

1.413.601

1.473.572

Deferred tax asset article 27A-L.4172/2013

c

3.465.614

3.465.614

a+b+c

6.431.186

6.520.323

Total deferred tax asset
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Deferred tax has been calculated on the basis of the nominal tax rate at which the temporary taxable and deductible
differences are expected to be offset.
Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent reasonably expected to be offset by future taxable income. The
significant temporary differences relate to allowances for credit risk whose settlement does not have a fixed maturity.
The provisions of Article 27A, Law 4172/2013, as amended through Article 4, Law 4340/2015, pertain to voluntary
conversion of deferred tax assets, on temporary differences, to final and under liquidation assets versus the Greek
State. For the purposes of applying the aforementioned provisions and in order to undertake the relevant corporate
actions, a resolution of the General Meeting is required, made under the increased quorum and majority as specified
in Law 1667/1986 in respect of the cooperative capital increase following the special recommendation of the Board
of Directors. The decision pertains to formation of special reserves and the free issue of certificates verifying
acquisition rights of common shares or cooperative shares (conversion rights) in favor of the Greek State.
Both - Drama Cooperative Bank and the former Evros Cooperative Bank have taken the relevant decisions based on
article 27A, of Law 4172/2013. which allow under the conditions of the law to convert the deferred tax claims, on
temporary disputes, into final and settled claims against the Greek State.
Income tax, attributable to temporary differences relating to the amount of accumulated provisions and other general
losses caused by the credit risk, which were accounted for as till June 30, 2015, regarding the abovementioned legal
entities receivables, for which a definition of "deferred tax assets" has been used or will be used in accordance with
the provisions of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and Law 4172/2013 and which is presented in
in the last annual financial statements, prepared under IFRS, audited by statutory auditors and approved by the
General Meeting of Shareholders, is converted, in whole or in part, on case basis, into final and liquidated receivables
versus the Greek State, in the event the legal entity’s earnings after tax record losses in compliance, as mentioned
above, with the last annual financial statements, audited by statutory auditors and approved by the General Meeting
of Shareholders.
The amount of the final and liquidated receivable is defined through multiplying the total amount of deferred tax
asset, as mentioned above, by the percentage that represents accounting loss, after taxes, regarding Total Equity, as
stated in the respective annual separate financial statements of the legal entity which have been prepared for the
relevant fiscal year, not including the accounting loss for the year [Tax Asset = (Amount of Deferred Tax Asser in the
Financial Statements * Acccounting Loss for the Year After Tax) / (Equity - Acccounting, Loss for the Year After Tax)].
The receivables described in the current is incurred at the time of approval of the respective annual corporate
financial statements by the Annual General Meeting of shareholders or partners and is offset against the income
tax of the tax year of the legal entity that publishes the approved Financial Statements. In order to achieve offsetting
with the corresponding income tax, the legal entity can timely submit supplementary tax returns within one month
from the date of incurring the receivables under the provisions of the aforementioned Article. In case the
corresponding income tax for the tax year, within which the accounting loss was incurred, is not sufficient to facilitate
full settlement of the receivables and to the extent that a certain part of the receivable has not been offset, the legal
entity has directly collectible receivables from the Greek State in respect of this outstanding (non-offset) amount. This
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receivables is covered within one (1) month after the submission (initial or additional) of income tax return. Thus, the
legal entity issues free certificates representing acquisition rights of common or cooperative shares (conversion
rights), which are owned by the Greek State and correspond to shares or cooperative shares of total market value
equal to one hundred percent ( 100%) of the amount of the final and liquidated tax assets prior to its offsetting with
the income tax of the tax year in which the accounting loss was incurred. The market value of shares or cooperative
shares is defined as their intrinsic accounting value, which arises from the last legally prepared balance sheet of the
entity, taking into consideration all the comments recorded in the Independent Auditor’s Report. Conversion rights
are exercised without paying the relative consideration, through capitalization of the special purpose reserves.
Provisions of Article 27Α pertain to tax assets incurred in or after tax year 2017 and regarding tax year 2016 and
further. An exemption is provided in the event of bankruptcy, special liquidation or liquidation of the legal entity,
when the tax asset is incurred given that bankruptcy, special liquidation or liquidation occurred after the current Law
publication date.

The highest total balance of deferred tax asset that can, under the provisions of Article 27Α, Law 4172/2013, be
converted into final and liquidated receivables against the Greek State amounts to approximately € 3,465 million.

Calculation basis 30.06.2015

Balance

29%

Balance of accumulated provisions / Drama Cooperative Bank

5.354.114

1.552.693

Balance of accumulated provisions / former Evros Cooperative Bank

6.596.279

1.912.921

11.950.393

3.465.614

Total

Deferred tax asset amounting to € 1. 413.601 that relates to deductible tax losses, has a five-year recovery period and
requires sufficient future profitability of the Bank.
21.

Other Assets

Other assets are analyzed as follows:

Law 4370/2016 “Deposit Guarantee Scheme” (DGS) incorporates into the Greek Legislation the Directive 2014/49/EU
of the European Parliament as of April 16, 2014 (EU L 173), on contributions to deposit guarantee schemes and on
payment commitments and establishes new regulations regarding all the DGSs that provide similar level of deposits
protection within the EU.
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The Hellenic Deposit and Investment Guarantee Fund (herein after T.E.K.E.) manages the bank deposits and investing
services guarantees system and has been designed to (a) compensate depositors of credit institutions authorized in
Greece that fail to fulfill their obligations, (b) compensate investor customers of credit institutions authorized in
Greece, which do not participate in the mutual Guarantee Fund and are unable to fulfill their obligations arising from
the provision of investment services and (c) finance credit institutions during the implementation of the consolidation
measures.
Chapter Β, Law 4370/2016 defines the credit institutions obligation regarding their participation in Τ.Ε.Κ.Ε. (Article 4,
par. 3 and Article 15, Directive 2014/49/EU ), while Article 9 of the aforementioned Law defines the ceiling for
guaranteed deposits in respect of every credit institution covered by Τ.Ε.Κ.Ε. as an amount of € 100.000 (a hundred
thousand euro). The ceiling is effective regarding the total deposits held at the same credit institution,
notwithstanding the number, the currency and the place of keeping deposits within the European Union.
Receivables from Lesvos - Lemnos Cooperative Bank and Lamia Cooperative Bank that are under the special liquidation
regime are based on eviction agreements and are addressed through equal liabilities of deposit accounts.

22.

Foreclosed Assets

Amounts in €

Land plots –
Buildings

Acquisition value
Opening balance as at 1 January 2020
Cha nges
Depreci a ti on
Balance as at 31 December 2020

23.

208,220
35,345
(11,489)
232,076

Obligations due to Customers

Deposits and other customers’ accounts are as follows:
Amounts in €
Sight deposits
Saving deposits
Term deposits
Cheques and payables
Total

31.12.2021
19.167.837
17.736.789
51.421.748
23.685
88.350.060

31.12.2020
15.819.659
16.943.853
54.047.064
42.370
86.852.946
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24.

Employee Benefit Obligations

Employee benefit obligations pertain to the amount of pension payment arising from the provision for employee
indemnity formed on annual basis and are analyzed as follows:
Change in net obligation

31.12.2021

Amounts in €
Net obl i ga tion a t the begi nni ng of the
peri od
Current empl oyment cos t

31.12.2020

56,313

59,335

7,608

8,192

Interes t cos t

703

1,053

Previ ous s ervi ce cos t

(7)

Cos t of s ettl ements /cutba cks / s peci a l
ca s es
Benefi ts pa ya bl e wi thi n the current
yea r
Actua ri a l l os s

-

92,073

-

(118,633)
3,679

Net obligation at the end of the period

Change in net obligation

-

(12,268)

41,736

56,313

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Amounts in €
Net obl i ga tion a t the begi nni ng of the
peri od
Cha nges 2019-2020

56,313
-

(104,163)

Amounts to be recorded i n Equi ty due
to cha nge i n a ccounting pol i cy 2020

-

(107,568)

Benefi ts pa i d by the empl oyer
Expens e recogni zed i n the Income
Statement
Amount recorded i n OCI
Net Obligation at the end of the period

268,044

(118,633)

-

100,378

9,245

3,679

-12,268

41,736

53,290

Expense recognized in the Income Statement

Amounts in €

1.1-31.12.2021

Current empl oyment cos t

1.1-31.12.2020
7,608

8,192

Interes t cos t

703

1,053

Previ ous s ervi ce cos t

(7)

Cos t of s ettl ements /cutba cks / s peci a l ca s es
Total Expense Recognised in the Income Statement

-

92,073

-

100,378

9,245

Amounts recognized in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income
Amounts in €

1.1-31.12.2021

1.1-31.12.2020

Actua ri a l (profi t) l os s i n the obl i ga tion due to
fi na nci a l a s s umptions

1,476

Actua ri a l (profi t) l os s i n the obl i ga tion due to
demogra phi c a s s umptions

-

Actua ri a l (profi t) l os s i n the obl i ga tion due to
experi ence

2,204

Cumulative amount in OCI

3,679

11,973

(140,686)
(7,986)
(136,700)
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These results depend on the assumptions (economic and demographic) development of an actuarial study.
The main actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes are the following:

Key actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes are as follows:

31/12/2021

31/12/2020

Discount interest rate

0,6%

1,1%

Future salary growth

1,8%

1,7%

Inflation rate

1,8%

1,7%

Mortality table

EVK 2000

Employee number

EVK 2000

44

47

Average age

42,56

43,98

Average years of service

12,10

12,18

Average years for retirement

21,39

20,02

2.332,57

2.091,22

Program maturity based on benefits

21,12

20,44

Program maturity based on actuarial
liabilities

6,16

4,39

Average retirement salary

Sensitivity analysis regarding actuarial liability as at 31.12.2021:

25.

Other Liabilities

Other liabilities are analyzed as follows:
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Amounts in €

31.12.2021

Cheques as collateral for collection
Accrued interest
Liabilities from taxes -duties
Liabilities to suppliers
Liabilities to social security institutions

31.12.2020
0

6.216

154.498

65.947

40.642

77.803

0

19.607

64.716

78.278

Contribution under Law 128/1975

0

3.860

Previous years dividends payable

0

10.132

206.810

72.114

97.500

97.500

Liabilities from collections for third parties
Provisions for risks and levies (for tax non-inspected years)
Provisions for retroactive contributions in favor of OAEE
Other liabilities
Other accrued expenses
Total

26.

4.861

4.861

607.980

405.603

11.407

97.048

1.188.415

938.970

Cooperative Capital
Number of
shares
1.443.773
1.951.634
3.395.407
828.119
4.223.526

Amounts in €
Balance as at 31 December 2019
Cooperative capital increase
Balance as at 31 December 2020
Cooperative capital increase
Balance as at 31 December 2021

Nominal value
2,78
2,78
2,78
2,78
2,78

Cooperative
share capital
4.013.689
5.425.543
9.439.231
2.302.171
11.741.402

In 2021, an increase of the Bank's cooperative capital was realized by 2.302.171 euro through private participation,
therefore the total cooperative capital of the Bank as at 31.12.2021 amounts to € 11,741,402 and the total number
of cooperative shares to 4,223,526 with a price of € 2.78 each.
The Bank management considers that all the conditions for the recognition of the cooperative capital as equity in
accordance with IFRIC 2 have been fulfilled since

in accordance with the provisions of Article 149 of Law

4261/5.5.2014, no potential for returning funds is effective.

27.

Share Premium

Amounts in €
Balance as at 31 December 2019
Other adjustments
Balance as at 31 December 2020
Other adjustments
Balance as at 31 December 2021

Share Premium
4.551.721
3
4.551.724
4.551.724
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28.

Other Reserves, Retained Earnings

Statutory reserves are formed in compliance with Article 24 of the Articles of Association through withholding at least
ten percent (10%) of net profit on annual basis. Such withholdings are not mandatory when the size of the reserves
equals the total value of cooperative shares.

Under Article 25 of the Articles of Association, at least five percent (5%) of the annual net profit of the Bank is withheld
for the purposes of forming extraordinary reserves, used for compliance with the indemnity of withdrawing members’
liability under article 40 of the Articles of Association.

Extraordinary reserves can be also formed following a decision of the General Meeting for other, always specific,
purposes, defined under the same procedures and terms and conditions. All extraordinary reserves are used
throughout the Bank’s operations given that it does not hinder the realization of their objectives.

29.

Commitments, Contingent Assets and Liabilities

Contingent tax obligation: The Bank is tax audited until the fiscal year 2009, while regarding the period 2010-2015,
provisions for write-off contingently apply. The accumulated provisions for unaudited fiscal years amount to 97,500
€ and are deemed adequate by the Management.
Operating leases: The Bank's liabilities (as lessee) mainly arise from buildings which are used as branches. Its
receivables (as lessor) mainly consider the rentals of buildings leased to third parties.
On 31.12.2021, the Bank leases 1 real estate item Evros and 1 in Dram, which are used as branches, and 2 flats in
Evros. The total lease payments during 2021 amounted to approximately 45 k Euro, of which an amount of
approximately 19 k Euro pertains to real estate leases whose operation was interrupted in 2021.
On 01.01.2019 the Bank applied the requirements of IFRS 16 "Leases" by recognizing an asset as a Rights Of Use
amounting to 247,822.80 euro and equal liabilities from leases. In 2021, the present value of the right of use was
redefined at the amount of 28.940 Euro with a corresponding adjustment of liabilities from leases.
The Bank’s minimum future lease payments are estimated as follows:
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Capital commitments: In the course of its regular operations, the Bank undertakes commitments that could lead to
future changes in its asset structure. These commitments are monitored in off balance sheet accounts and are related
with issued letters of guarantee, letters of credit of execution, liabilities from approved credit facilities and limits.

Amounts in €
Letters of guarantee

01.01 - 31.12.2021
4.346.414

01.01 - 31.12.2020
4.572.124

Contingent legal liabilities: The former Evros Cooperative Bank is in litigation with the Greek State regarding the
working capital grants, provided by the Bank to the companies of Evros Regional Unit under the guarantee of the
Greek State, following the decisions of the Ministry of Finance. The Greek State refused to forfeit these guarantees
for non-performing loans. The Bank claims an amount of 285 k euro included in other assets of the Statement of
Financial Position pertaining to repaid guarantees, as well as the forfeiture of guarantees of 2.71 million euro for nonperforming loans. Although there are positive developments regarding the collection of € 194 k within the year 2022,
the final outcome of this dispute with the Greek State cannot be predicted at this stage and, therefore, no provision
has been made in the financial statements nor have these guarantees been impaired as collaterals.
The Bank claims, through legal proceedings, the collection of arrears in the context of banking practices.
There are no lawsuits or claims that could materially affect the financial position of the Bank as at 31.12.2021.

Pledged assets: There are no pledged assets as at 31 December 2021.

30.

Transactions and Balances with Related Parties

Balances and transactions between the Bank and related parties in accordance with IAS 24 are as follows:
Transactions and balances with BoD members and Key
Executives
Amounts in €
Loans
BoD members fees & other benefits

31.

31.12.2021

56,000
192,623

31.12.2020

56,000
134,771

Recovery and Resolution of Credit Institutions (Directive 2014/59/EU)

Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for the recovery and
resolution of credit institutions and investment firms (BRRD) as well as the Directives 82/891/CM, 2011/24/EC,
2002/47/EC, 2004/25/EC, 2005/56/EC, 2007/36/EC, 2011/35/EU, 2012/30/EU and 2013/36/EU and Regulations (ΕU)
1093/2010 and (ΕU) 648/2012 were incorporated in the Greek Legislation under Article 2, Law 4335/2015. The main
reasoning behind the new Law is that a credit institution losses should be assumed by taxpayers only as the last resort.
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The losses should initially burden the shareholders and then – the creditors (bail in). The aforementioned provisions
have been effective since 1.1.2016.

32.

Disclosures under Law 4151/2013 - Dormant Deposit Accounts

In accordance with the Articles 6-10 of Law 4151/2013 every credit institution in Greece has the liability to transfer
the amounts from dormant deposit accounts together with any interest accrued, after 20 years have lapsed, to the
government until the end of April of each year depositing them in a special account in the Bank of Greece. The auditors
will certify whether or not the Bank complied with the law on dormant deposits by indicating the amount that are
attributed to the State. In compliance with Letter of the Hellenic Bank Association under Prot. No. 1436/28.7.2016,
as far as the aforementioned accounts are concerned, the provisions for deadline of articles 7 and 8, Law 4151/2013
are suspended. Drama Corporate Bank started its operations in 1994 and Evros Corporate Bank – in 1996. Starting
from 20.7.2015 the capital controls have been effective and suspension of the deadline of Articles 7 & 8 of Law
4151/2013 regarding dormant accounts has started. No such amounts to be returned are effective at the end of 2021.

33.

Other Information
▪ Within 2021, the Bank did not manage funds on behalf of third parties.
▪ Within 2020, the Bank did not provide management services to third parties.

34.

Auditors’ Fees

The total fees of Certified Public Accountants for the statutory audit of annual accounts in FY 2021 amount to 20.000
Euro. Moreover, in 2021, non-prohibited fees were invoiced, according to the EU regulation 537/2014, for other audit
services totaling 4,400 Euro plus VAT.

35.

Post Statement of Financial Position date events

There are no other events subsequent to the Financial Statements that relate to the Bank and should be referred to
in compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards.

Drama, 22 July 2022

The Chairman of the BoD

The Executive Member of the
BoD
& Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Financial Officer
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